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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$1,295,666,000 from continuing operations,
representing a decrease of approximately 4.05% as compared with last
corresponding year of approximately HK$1,350,367,000 from continuing
operations. The revenue was mainly attribute to the Group’s mining
operation and chemical trading operation as same as last corresponding
year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$162,643,000
from continuing operations (2021: loss of approximately HK$359,902,000
from continuing operations), representing a decrease in loss of
approximately 54.81% as compared with last corresponding year. Such
decrease in loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 was mainly due
to decrease in finance costs of approximately 53.51% of the Group as
compared to last corresponding year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are: (i) mining operations —
exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; and (i) chemical trading
operations — manufacturing and sale of chemical products (collectively
named “continuing operations”). During the year ended 31 December
2021, trading of mineral resources operation was discontinued
(“discontinued operations”). An analysis of each of these business
segments is presented below:

Continuing operations

Mining Operations — Exploitation and Exploration of Mineral
Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a mineral mine within its Mining
Operation, namely Molybdenum Mine.
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Molybdenum Mine

The Group’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation, exploration
and production of molybdenum concentrate in the PRC. Our molybdenum
concentrate was produced by the molybdenum mine operated by
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company Limited (“Jiu
Long Kuang Ye”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The
grading of molybdenum concentrate produced by our molybdenum mine
was approximately 45%-50%.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no molybdenum concentrate
was produced (2021: Nil) due to the expired of the exploitation licenses of
the Mining Right, whereas the grade of molybdenum concentrate was
approximately 45%-50%. However, Jiu Long Kuang Ye still can sell the
existing molybdenum concentrate products which were stored in
inventory. The average selling price of molybdenum concentrate was
approximately HK$108,077 per tonne (2021: approximately HK$81,977
per tonne). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the mining
operation contributed a revenue of approximately HK$221,332,000 (2021:
approximately HK$179,534,000) to the Group, of which approximately
HK$194,124,000 was contributed by sales of molybdenum concentrate
(2021: approximately HK$143,471,000) and approximately
HK$27,208,000 was contributed by sales of sulfuric acid and iron
concentrate (2021: approximately HK$36,063,000). Gross profit was
approximately HK$98,187,000 (2021: HK$58,325,000) and the gross
profit margin was 44.36% (2021: 32.49%), representing a increase of
11.87% as compared with last corresponding year. The increase in gross
profit margin was mainly due to the increase of selling price of
molybdenum concentrate per tonne. During the year, the Group did not
recognise an amortisation of mining rights cost due to no exploitation of
mine (2021: Nil).

$HIES

AEENREESEIEEAPEMKR  SHFEK
FEREN c RPNEBNEAREENIEEE
MEARPRAEG SEGNEREFR AR ([J1EE
M) a2 BB - HIMRSEIRIS £ EMER
M E AL B H) 45%-50% °

REEZTE-_—_F+-A=+—HLFE #H®
PR AR REE i EsEREn (=%
——F | HEBERM RN TH4ERE
50% ° SR - NLEERRE M A $HE IR A IEREN E &
GFE - HEMFIEELNAENE108,077 T (=
T —F  Y)BMES1,977 L) c MEE T -
FH+ZA=+—HLFE  HEEBALEEEA
IR #9221,332,000% o( = T = — F: 4
179,534,000/8 7T ) + E A #7194,124,0007% 7T (=
T~ —4F 1 #7143,471,00078 7C) R B SEAE R &
T 4927,208,000/8 7L (—ZZ ——4F : 4936,063,000
BIL)REBMEREBENHEE RN A
98,187,000/ L(=ZF = —4 : 58,325,000/ L) *
MEFEE44.36%( — T — —4F : 32.49%) © &
EER I IN11.87% o EFRIE T B BN
MEBEEELAME - RAFE  ARAEET
ERRELD N ERRREERAEHE (=
T E) o

IEFBERMERAT 2022 FRH 5



Management Discussion and Analysis
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Performance of mining operation

The operation of Jiu Long Kuang Ye has been hindered due to the
financial difficulty of the Group and the expiry of the mining licence of the
molybdenum mine. However, Jiu Long Kuang Ye has been spending
strenuous effort in renewing the relevant mining licence, and the relevant
governmental department has also confirmed in April 2022 that all
outstanding fees as well as information required for the renewal of the
mining licence has already been paid/provided by Jiu Long Kuang Ye.

Reference is made to the announcement dated 10 February 2023, the
mining licence has been successfully renewed and the renewed licence,
which is valid up to 22 February 2034, has been granted by the Ministry
of Natural Resources of the PRC and issued to the Company on 10
February 2023. The mining licence is the major licence required for the
Group to conduct its mining activities of its molybdenum mine.

According to the management of Jiu Long Kuang Ye, it was understood
that there has been no material change for the relevant regulations and
standards required for the relevant operation of Jiu Long Kuang Ye and
therefore the mine and factories of Jiu Long Kuang Ye could readily
resume its operation once the relevant licences are renewed. Moreover,
despite the halt in mining activities, in the recent years the Group has still
been able to conduct processing of mined ore in stock into molybdenum
concentrate for sales to the customers.
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Major assets in mining operation

As at 31 December 2022, the major assets included in the Group’s
mining operation were mining rights and property, plant and equipment
associated with the Group’s molybdenum mine of approximately
HK$1,420,367,000. At the end of the reporting period, the Group carried
out impairment assessment to assess whether the recoverable amounts
of the assets were below the carrying amount.

No impairment was recognised as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Chemical trading operations

The Group’s chemical trading operations mainly includes manufacturing
and sale of chemical products in the PRC. Our chemical products were
produced by Anhui Tongxi New Material Technology Company Limited, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group’s revenue generated from chemical trading
operation was approximately HK$1,074,334,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,170,833,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the major assets included in the Group’s
chemical trading operation were property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$132,155,000. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.

No impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Discontinued operations

The Company had disposed a non-fully owned subsidiary which engaged
in trading of mineral resources business entirely, which had always been
a minor business segment of the Group, in April 2021.
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PROSPECTS

As we enter 2023, our Group is striving to build resilience in a time of
uncertainty.

The economic outlook remains uncertain in 2023. Global economies will
continue to face multiple macroeconomic headwinds, including
geopolitical uncertainties, inflation and tightened financial conditions.
Many industries are still plagued by supply chain issues that emerged in
recent years. Ongoing inflation and subdued economic growth are
expected. In order to combat this, our Group aims to improve our
resilience in through strategic management, development and expansion
of our two core businesses as well as building protective measures into
supply chains to deal with shortages and rising business costs.

For mining operation, the Group has successful renewed the mining
licence of molybdenum mine and will further invest in and upgrade the
mining operation machine system in production to improve the production
efficiency, safety and environmental level. For chemical operation, through
research and development and additional production facilities, we
continue to improve our product quality and increase our product
competitiveness.

The Group will continue to be receptive to the market’s views candidly
and humbly. It will endeavor to maintain effective communication with
stakeholders. As a way to gauge capital markets’ perception of the
Group, we will continue to improve the quality of investor relations
management and will ponder on investors’ concerns and advices in order
to further enhance the Group’s operating management and cooperate
governance. The investor relations department will maintain
professionalism at its work so that capital markets will be able to gain a
thorough understanding of the Group’s business. This will help unlock the
potential investment value and contribute to the long term and healthy
development of the Group.
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Molybdenum market

The operation environment of China’s steel industry is the key factor that
affects the development of the country’s molybdenum market. As
required by China’s environmental protection policy and supply-side
reform policy, steel factories have no alternative but to transform and shift
to produce high quality special steel. Meanwhile, the normalization of fall/
winter production restriction will further accelerate the enhancement and
reconstruction of the steel industry, there are still ample room to increase
the production of stainless steel and high strength steel. All the factors
stated above will further drive up the demand for molybdenum, and it was
expected that the demand for molybdenum in China will keep increasing.
It was expected that the molybdenum market would continue to improve
in 2023.

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, to proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of the
Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and fine
tune its business strategies when appropriate. Moreover, the Group is
seeking for further operating efficiency for its business. We are confident
in the future prospect and committed to the continuous growth of the
Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and proceeds from suitable source of funding. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group recorded a cash outflow of approximately
HK$496,000 (2021: inflow of approximately HK$3,360,000) which was
mainly due to increase in cash outflow from investing activities during the
year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
outstanding bank loans and other borrowings at the amount of
approximately HK$1,342,265,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,399,387,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
0.12 (2021: approximately 0.15). The decrease in current ratio was mainly
due to payment of environmental and resource tax of approximately
HK$105,428,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was deficit
approximately 2.66 (2021: approximately 2.97). The decrease in debt to
equity ratio was mainly due the decrease in loss for the year attributable
to the owners of the Company under review. The ratio was calculated by
dividing the total liabilities of approximately HK$3,523,078,000 (2021:
approximately HK$3,386,005,000) by equity attributable to owners of the
Company of deficit approximately HK$1,326,499,000 (2021:
approximately HK$1,140,732,000). It is confident that the Group would
have adequate financial resources to satisfy full repayment of the current
liabilities after completion of the Capital Reorganisation (as defined below).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES
Capital Structure

The Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2022 mainly comprised
of current assets of approximately HK$407,052,000 (2021: approximately
HK$460,370,000), current liabilities of approximately HK$3,261,215,000
(2021: approximately HK$3,091,036,000) and equity attributable to
owners of the Company of deficit approximately HK$1,326,499,000
(2021: approximately HK$1,140,732,000). Current assets mainly
comprised of (i) cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$11,344,000 (2021: approximately HK$20,733,000); (i) inventories of
approximately HK$271,949,000 (2021: approximately HK$236,893,000);
and (i) prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$114,291,000 (2021: approximately HK$185,358,000). Current
liabilities mainly comprised of (i) bank loans and other borrowings of
approximately HK$1,325,375,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,388,375,000); (ii) trade and bill payables of approximately
HK$286,444,000 (2021: approximately HK$273,541,000); and (i) other
payables and accruals of approximately HK$1,022,009,000 (including
interest payables) (2021: approximately HK$891,361,000).

Debenture and Bond Issued

Upon the maturity date of convertible bond in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 (“CB”) on 28 December 2018, the Group
entered into standstill deed in relation to turn into a Bond with a principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of its principal
amount to Sfund International, having made all reasonable enquires, an
independent third party of the Company.
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Treasury Policies

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the business activities of the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. It is
not considered that the Group is significantly exposed to any foreign
currency exchange risk. It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage its
foreign currency exposure whenever such financial impact is material to
the Group. For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose and was
not engaged in foreign currency speculative activities.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING AND
CHARGES OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank loans and other
borrowings in current liabilities and non-current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$1,342,265,000 (2021: HK$1,399,387,000). As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s interest bearing bank loans and other
borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from 4.32% to 30% per
annum and were secured by (i) guarantees from a subsidiary of the Group
and the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; (i) guarantee from the ultimate
control party, (i) pledged property, plant and equipment; and (iv) pledged
prepaid land lease.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 708 full time employees
(2021: 669 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market norms, individual qualifications, relevant
experience and performance.

DIVIDEND

No dividend is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY BY THE COURT

On 16 May 2022, the Company was ordered to be wound up by the High
Court of Hong Kong and the Official Receiver by virtue of her office
becomes the Provisional Liquidator of the Company.

Pursuant to an Order dated 18 July 2022 granted by the Hong Kong
Court of First Instance, Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Tsui Chi Chiu of
Ernst & Young Transactions Limited of 27/F One Taikoo Place, 979 King’s
Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong SAR were appointed as the Joint and
Several Liquidators of the Company (the “Joint and Several Liquidators”).

On 27 September 2022, the Company has submitted a resumption
proposal (the “Resumption Proposal”) to the Stock Exchange to seek
resumption of trading of the Shares. The Resumption Proposal, sets out,
actions taken and proposed to be taken by the Company to fulfill the
resumption conditions, including among other things, (i) details of the
reorganization of the capital of the Company by way of share
consolidation, capital reduction, share sub-division and share premium
reduction (the “Capital Reorganisation”); (i) injection of funds by way of
subscription of Shares by the investor, Huatune Corporation; (iii)
application of whitewash waiver to The Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong; (iv) the business plan for the Group’s
compliance with rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules; and (v) implementation of
the schemes of arrangement to be entered into between the Company
and its creditors under Part 13 of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, subject to any modification, addition
or condition approved or imposed by the High Court of Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWE DN

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of This
report, the following changes in the composition of the board of the
Company (the “Board”) and Board committees took place:

M

(i)

(i)

Ms. Guo Xiao Ying has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee and
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 1
April 2022.

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun has resigned as an executive Director and
ceased to be a member of each of the corporate governance
committee and the financial reporting committee of the Board with
effect from 19 January 2022.

Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho Tony (“Dato Dr. Cheng”) has resigned as
an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the corporate governance committee of the Board with effect from
1 April 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Ying Min (“Mr. Yang”), aged 54, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 25 August 2014 and was
subsequently appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
22 September in the same year. He was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board of the Company on 4 January 2016. Mr. Yang graduated from
Peoples Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of Laws LL.B..
After graduation, he worked in Xian Municipal government, Shaanxi
Province, China. In 2010, he joined Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu
Long Kuang Ye Company Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), the Company’s
subsidiary, as deputy managing director. In 2012, he was appointed as
chairman of Jiu Long Kuang Ye. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in
management and legal affairs relevant to mining industry.

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (“Mr. Qian”), aged 38, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 15 March 2011 and was then
appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Board on 21 April 2011. He is
the Chairman of each of the Corporate Governance Committee and the
Financial Reporting Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, respectively. He is also currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qian graduated from Beijing Normal
University Zhuhai majored in electronic commerce.

Mr. Shen Jian (“Mr. Shen”), aged 41, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 9 November 2021 and was subsequently
appointed as member of each of the Corporate Governance Committee
and the Financial Reporting Committee on 19 January 2022. Mr. Shen
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Supply Chain Management with Logistics
from Shanghai Maritime University in 2008. He has over 10 years’
extensive experience in international trade and logistics management
services. He has been the general manager of Shanghai Minsheng
International Trade Co., Limited* (£ /8 2 A B & 5 B R 22 7)) since
August 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEE

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 76, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 14 August 2009. He is a member
of the Corporate Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee, respectively. He is also currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from Shanghai Education
College and Shanghai Business College where he majored in professional
mathematics and financial management respectively. He has extensive
experience in financial management. Currently, he is the general manager
of finance of Wan Tai Group Limited and the legal representative and
chairman of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Shanghai Yuan Bei
Trading Company Limited.

Mr. Zhang had resigned with effect from 19 January 2022.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho (“Dato Dr. Cheng”), aged 53, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on
12 April 2001. He is a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee. Dato Dr. Cheng
obtained a Bachelor of Science in Building, a Master degree in Urban
Design from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 27 years’
experience in property development, property investment, valuation and
corporate finance. Among others, Dato Dr. Cheng is a Fellow of: Institute
of Public Accountants, The Royal Society of Medicine, The Association of
International Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The
Society of Operations Engineers, and Institution of Plant Engineers.

Dato Dr. Cheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Combest Holdings Limited (stock code: 8190, listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange) on 22 November 2016.

Dato Dr. Cheng had resigned all duty of the Company with effect from 1
April 2022.

Ms. Guo Xiao Ying (“Ms. Guo”), aged 41, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director and member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 29 September 2020. Ms. Guo obtained a Bachelor
Degree of Laws from Northwest University of Political Science and Law in
2006. Ms. Guo has over 10 years’ experience in legal practice, litigation
agency in civil, commercial and economic disputes and non-litigation legal
services.

Ms. Guo had resigned all duty of the Company with effect from 1 April
2022.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are (i) investment holdings; (i) mining
operations — exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; and (iii)
chemical trading operations.

During the Year ended 31 December 2021, the trading of mineral
resources operation was discontinued. Details of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and material
attributable factors of the development and likely future developments of
the Group’s business, are provided throughout this Annual Report,
particularly in the following separate sections:

(@  Review of the Group’s business — “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 13;

(b)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing — “Report
of the Directors” on pages 16 to 30;

(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 13;

(d)  Analysis using financial key performance indicators — and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 13 and
“Summary of Financial Information” on pages 195 to 196;

(e) Information about the Group’s Environmental, Social and

Governance (“ESG”) policies and performance — ESG Report on
pages 44 to 67;
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

) Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations — “Report of the Directors” on pages 16 to 30 and
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 31 to 43; and

(@  An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others — “Report of the Directors” on
pages 16 to 30 and ESG Report on pages 44 to 67.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Although we have established the risk management system to identify,
analyse, evaluate and respond to risks, our business activities are subject
to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy,
operations, compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully
consider the risks described below:

1. Economic Environment Risks

Affected by current macro-economy and policies at Mainland China
and abroad, the business of mining operations, property
management operations and chemical trading operations where
the Company operates exits many risks and uncertainties.

To cope with such risks, the Company made thorough research
and analysis on macro-economy, government policies, industrial
development, intensified market analysis and judgement and
adopted corresponding actions against potential risks. It
accelerated restructuring, transformation and upgrading, thus
cultivating new profit growth and enhancing its comprehensive
competitiveness and anti-risk capabilities.

2. Market Price Risks

The sharp fluctuation of molybdenum concentrate and chemical
products price mainly reflects the change in supply and demand of
molybdenum products and chemical products, market uncertainty
and other factors out of control of the Group, including but not
limited to the overall economic situation, political unrest, economic
condition, availability of other metals, regulations of governments
both at Mainland China and abroad, natural disasters and weather
conditions. Price fluctuation will have a material impact on the
business, cash flow and revenue of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

To cope with the risk, the Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of supervision and
control over market price risk and alert thereof, continuously
improves its risk control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses control.

Safety and Environmental Risks

Stringent requirements in relation to safe production and
environmental protection ability for a company have been stipulated
in the Production Safety Law of People’s Republic of China and the
Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China. As
the Company’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation
and production of molybdenum concentrate, any safety or
environmental accident will inflict huge losses on the reputation and
assets of the Company.

To cope with the risk, the Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further strengthens supervision
and examination in terms of safety and environmental protection. It
screens relevant hazards, takes preventive measures; constantly
increases awareness among enterprises and all employees in the
aspects of on-site management and safety and environmental
protection management by providing more training courses. It also
allocates more funds with a view to upgrade and reconstruct
technology and equipment, constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

Financial Risks

Details of financial risks are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental policies performance

The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and
encourage recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group will
continue to review and promote its environmental policies.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group. During
the year under review, breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group as follow:

1. The total number of independent non-executive directors accounts
for less than one-third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules;

2. The number of independent non-executive directors and the
number of members of the Audit Committee have become less
than three which are below the minimum requirement prescribed
under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules respectively;

3. Since there is no independent non-executive director, none of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules;

4. The Remuneration Committee only consists of one member who is
not an independent non-executive Director, and hence the
Company does not meet all the requirements of Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules as the Remuneration Committee does not comprise a
majority of independent non-executive directors as members; and

5. There is a vacancy for the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee resulting in non-compliance with the requirement
prescribed under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The above non-compliances arose due to the resignation of Mr. Wong,
Ms. Guo and Dato Dr. Cheng. Pursuant to Rules 3.11 and 3.27 of the
Listing Rules, the Company should appoint suitable candidates to fill the
vacancies within three months after failing to meet the requirements under
the Listing Rules from the date of resignation of Mr. Wong, Ms. Guo and
Dato Dr. Cheng respectively.

However, the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the
vacancies in order to re-comply with the Listing Rules was halted since
the Company was ordered to be wound up on 16 May 2022 as explained
in the section “WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY BY THE COURT”
above.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Relationship with employees and customers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees and customers to meet its business goals. During the
year under review, there were no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees and customers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 194.

The cashflows of the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 81 to 82.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s single largest customer and
supplier accounted for approximately 8% (2021: 9%) and 7% (2021: 7%)
respectively, of the Group’s total operating revenue and cost of sales. The
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers accounted for approximately
30% (2021: 26%) and 26% (2021: 26%) of the Group’s total operating
revenue and cost of sales respectively.

At no time during the year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 80.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the amount of the Company’s reserve distributable to
shareholders as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2022 are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report are set out below:

(i) Ms. Guo has resigned as an independent non-executive Director
and ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 1 April
2022.

(ii) Mr. Zhang has resigned as an executive Director and ceased to be
a member of each of the corporate governance committee and the
financial reporting committee of the Board with effect from 19
January 2022.

(i)  Dato Dr. Cheng has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the corporate
governance committee of the Board with effect from 1 April 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun (resigned with effect from 19 January 2022)
Mr. Shen Jian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Guo Xiao Ying (resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho (resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2), Mr. Yang and Mr.
Shen shall retire as Director by rotation at the annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than
normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ remuneration for the financial year is set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company, or any of their respective associates, had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was known to the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons had,
or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company:

Long position:
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.016 each of the Company

EFRERRZBRHER

RZEZZF+-A=1+—8 BEARFER
BERBEKAEI6CHKRIFE 2 ELM - AR
ZEEUARBEBITERABNE - THALR
AARRDZABBRDPEE IR BEE RS

A

RE:
ARRBR.016BTHEER

Qian Yong Wei (“Mr. Qian”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 11,500,000 0.05%
gk (84 1) (BFEE) E=fAA
Held by controlled corporation 3,380,408,552 14.46%
REEHATEE
3,391,908,552 14.51%
Xu Zhe Cheng (“Ms. Xu”) (Note 2) Held by spouse 3,391,908,552 14.51%
FEH([Fra+ ) (H5E2) HEEFE
China Wan Tai Group Limited (“China Wan Tai”) Beneficial owner 234,240,000 1.00%
(Note 3) BE=AA
FRERERARAR ([FRER]D) (HE3I) Held by controlled corporation 3,146,168,552 13.46%
REEHATEE
3,380,408,552 14.46%
Universal Union Limited (“Universal Union”) Beneficial owner 3,146,168,552 13.46%
Universal Union Limited ([ Universal Union |) EnEAA
China Huarong Asset Management Company Held by controlled 4,888,000,000 20.92%
Limited (“China Huarong Asset”) (Note 4) corporations
PREEREEEEROARAR BRI ATEE

(rEEpEE ] (FHFE4)
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Huarong Real Estate Company Limited
(“Huarong Real Estate”) (Note 4)
ERBEXERETAA(TEREE]D (M4

China Huarong International Holdings Limited
(“China Huarong International”) (Note 4)

B BRI AR PR A R
(T BZERREIRR |) (PRt 4)

Oceanic Merchant Limited (“Oceanic”) (Note 4)

Oceanic Merchant Limited ([ Oceanic |) (M 4)

Driven Innovation Limited (“Driven”) (Note 4)
Driven Innovation Limited ([ Driven]) (Fif5E4)

Zhong Ling (“Mr. Zhong”) (Note 5)
B ([4858 4 ) (PIFE5)

China Gem Group Limited (“China Gem Group”)
(Note 5)

FEPAEEEGRAF ([RETAEER])
(ffzE5)

China Gem Investment Management Limited
(“China Gem Investment”) (Note 5)

China Gem Investment Management Limited
([ China Gem Investment |) (Kt 3£ 5)

Held by controlled
corporations

R RARRE

Held by controlled
corporations

FERR R I VNCTES ¥ )

Person having a security
interest in shares

EROPRAREESHOAL

Held by controlled corporation

RS ARRE

Held by controlled corporation

e I VNCIES Y )

Held by controlled corporation

R I VNSIES Y]

Held by controlled

corporations

R R RRE
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China Gem Fund IX L.P (“China Gem Fund”)
(Note 4)

China Gem Fund IX L.P ([ China Gem FundJ)
(M5 4)

Gu Jie (“Mr. Gu”) (Note 6)
EERE ([ERE A D) (FisEe)

Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory Company
Limited (Note 7)

FERBBREFZAERAR (MHE7)

Mint International Group Limited (Note 7)

REBEREEERAE (HFET)

Pleasant Journey Global Limited (Note 7)
Pleasant Journey Global Limited (Ff5E7)

Beneficial owner

iyt

BEHRBEBA

M

Beneficial owner

BEmBBA

Held by controlled
corporations

MXEHAREE

Held by controlled
corporations

REESARRE

Beneficial owner

BEmBEBA

3,018,000,000 12.91%
1,876,580,000 8.08%
1,324,929,577 5.67%
1,324,929,577 5.67%
1,324,929,577 5.67%
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Notes:

1.

26

Mr. Qian personally held 11,500,000 shares in the Company, and held 95%
interest in China Wan Tai. China Wan Tai held 100% interest in Universal
Union. Universal Union held 3,146,168,552 shares in the Company.

Ms. Xu is the spouse of Mr. Qian. The interest of Mr. Qian was deemed to
be Ms. Xu’s interest.

These shares are held by Universal Union, a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Wan Tai which is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. Qian and Ms. Xu as
t0 95% and 5% respectively.

(i) Driven Innovation is the limited partner of China Gem Fund contributing
approximately 83.75% of the total capital commitment including its
3,018,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to China Gem Fund. Driven
Innovation is wholly owned by China Huarong International which in turn is
owned as to 11.90% by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management
Company Limited (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) and as to 88.10% by Huarong Real
Estate. Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate both are wholly owned
by China Huarong Asset. (i) Oceanic is wholly owned by China Huarong
International. Mr. Gu charged 1,870,000,000 of the Shares he is interested
to Oceanic on 11 December 2014. Accordingly, China Gem Fund is
interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, Driven Innovation is deemed to be
interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, each of China Huarong Asset, Huarong
Real Estate, China Huarong International is deemed to be interested in
4,888,000,000 Shares and Oceanic is interested in 1,870,000,000 Shares
for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

China Gem Investment, the general partner of China Gem Fund is directly
wholly-owned by China Gem Financial Group Limited which is, in turn,
directly wholly-owned by China Gem Group which is, in turn, directly wholly-
owned by Mr. Zhong. Accordingly, each of China Gem Investment, China
Gem Financial Group Limited, China Gem Group and Mr. Zhong is deemed
to be interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares held by China Gem Fund for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The Company issued and allotted a total of 1,870,000,000 conversion
shares to Mr. Gu on 29 August 2014 and Mr. Gu subsequently charged
these shares to Oceanic on 11 December 2014.

These shares were held by Pleasant Journey Global Limited (“Pleasant
Journey”). Pleasant Journey is wholly owned by Mint International Group
Limited which is wholly owned by Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory
Company Limited (“Shanghai Mint”). Shanghai Mint is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Pleasant Journey for the purpose of Part XV
of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any persons who, as at 31 December 2022,
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to the authorization of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration of
the Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee, and
their remuneration is determined with reference to the Directors’
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Company.

R EXHEEEN R FF+ /A =+—
B ARRSEBRSRITEAB LT MEER
ATRAR RN AR (D B BIRIEH 5
RS &I 336 6ttt M B TR EMN B LMA
ZRERIAR RS EESMERI AR EL
ABER TAARARNARZBREARS HIGE 2 B 31T
RE A 2 T B 5% s A A HEs o

EEBARODIEZ ZEF

REBFEEMER  FAEERRESTE 2R
BEAREFRRBEEREN B BBEEARLRR
S EsmER - REIRETT 6 Ll AT
Mo ARG EER QB S E AN E A F %
REMB AR ES BRI L  EEFERIUS
ARBSEFEAMEABEZZEER -

EECERENESR

279 /NI KR S L NG EA R ER )
XE)S AT S AT (A 1 [0 BB A [ AR A5 B Sl TE [ R AR
EREEEEDAEREHAER EBTE B
BERAHF - A EAEAREE

Hr R
CEESAETESTIN &N BERED
AEFRRRBFRG LEARRRREE - &
EFMERTFHEZE SR XNSREFZE
S8 B BREUARRRABZRBNER
REEE -

tFEEBRHERAT 2022 58 27



Report of the Directors
EEERE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the financial year are set
out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors believe that none of the Directors and their respective
associates had an interest, directly or indirectly, in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of relevant
legal actions against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Company, no
equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the law of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report.
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DECISION OF THE LISTING REVIEW COMMITTEE
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

On 25 November 2022, the Company received a letter from the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange stating that the Listing Committee has
decided to cancel the Company’s Listing. On 5 December 2022, the
Company requested for a review of the Decision by the Listing Review
Committee of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Review Committee”) and
the review hearing was held on 24 February 2023 (the “Hearing”).

The Board hereby announces that the Company received a letter from the
Listing Review Committee on 8 March 2023 that, having carefully
considered all the facts and evidence, and all the submissions presented
by the Company and the Listing Division, the Listing Review Committee
had decided to overturn the Decision (the “LRC Overturn Decision”).

In arriving at the LRC Overturn Decision, the Listing Review Committee
has considered, among others, the following new developments from the
time of the Decision:

(i) the granting of the mining licence renewal on 10 February 2023
which would enable the Company’s molybdenum mining operation
to restart;

(i)  the Restructuring Agreement was signed on 21 February 2023; and

(i) the Investor had already advanced money to the Company under
the Restructuring Agreement and agreed to provide up to HK$40
million for the Company to implement any further steps as required
for completing the proposed restructuring.

On balance, the Listing Review Committee considered that (i) the
remaining steps in the proposed restructuring were essentially procedural
and there was no reasonable prospect that they would not be approved;
(i) the remaining steps for the Company’s compliance with other
outstanding conditions of the Resumption Guidance were procedural and
already well underway with prospects of being completed within a short
time frame; and (iii) but for the delays in obtaining the renewal of the
mining licence, much of which appears to have been out of the control of
the Company, the proposed restructuring might have been announced
and completed earlier, therefore the Listing Review Committee decided to
overturn the Listing Committee’s decision to cancel the Company’s listing
pursuant to Rule 6.01A and instead grant an extension of the remedial
period to 30 September 2023, on the basis that no further extension of
the remedial period would be granted.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 195 and 196 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Audit
Committee members sitted in the Board. The purpose of the
establishment of the Audit Committee is for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by the Auditors.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) was appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2012, and then retired and was re-appointed at the
Company’s annual general meeting from 2012 to 2022.

Elite will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite as auditors of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 April 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improve
the efficiency and performance of the Group and to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had applied the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code, except the following code provisions:

1. Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yang Ying Min, being the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, has in-depth knowledge and considerable
experience in the Group’s business, and is responsible for the
overall strategic planning and general management of the Group. It
was considered that vesting the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person will lead to consistent
leadership of the Group and enable the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly, thus achieving the Group’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment.

2. However, the Board shall nevertheless review the structure from
time to time and shall consider to make appropriate adjustment
should suitable circumstance arise.

Under the code provision A.5.1 of the Code, the Company should
establish a nomination committee of the Board chaired by the
chairman of the Board or an independent non-executive Director.
The majority of its members shall be independent non-executive
directors.

However, it was considered that the setting up of a nomination
committee of the Board may not be necessary given the scale of
the Board and the Company. The Board was responsible for
considering and approving the appointment of its members and
making recommendations to shareholders on directors standing for
re-election, providing sufficient biographical details of directors to
enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-
election, and where necessary, nominating and appointing directors
to fill casual vacancies.
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The Company has formulated a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) for
achieving diversity on the Board of the Company. The Policy enables the
sustainable and balanced development of the Company’s strategic
objectives. The Board reviewed the Policy annually to ensure the
effectiveness of the Palicy.

The Company considers that sufficient measures had been taken to
ensure that the Company complied with the Code for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development of relevant
corporate governance requirements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2022.

BOARD MEETING

The principal roles of the Board are to oversee the strategic development,
to determine the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group, to
monitor and control the financial performance and to ensure effective
internal controls and risk management. Implementation of strategies and
day-to-day operations are delegated to the management.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting is sent to all Directors
in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at least three days
before each regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors have
sufficient time to review the related documents and be adequately
prepared for the meeting.
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Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company’s Bye-laws
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The following table shows the attendance of each individual member of
the Board and the respective Board Committees at the Board, the
respective Board Committees meetings, annual general meeting and
special general meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2022:

MEEFEEERRZBEERZERLE (AR
DRBMEZEFEMASHRENALS) HHA
AMERE  IHENESRNEMSEEREL
BEBARERN - ARBZRRMABIESGRE
EXREAHEIMMERERFE 2 EMBPE
ATBEEARBRZXHWERR - BTHAE
HOEENBA ©

TRETESEREESEZES Z2EARKER
FREBEEZE - ZF+A=+—HILFEET
CEFEEH SEFCRECLR  RREF
g RBEERFRIAE 208

Executive Directors HiTES
Yang Ying Min BER N nafER neER natEE naMER neMER nefER
Qian Yi Dong B M naRER naMER neMER neTEA naTER nalER
Shen Jian i M nfER naMER naMER nefER nefER nalER
Zhang Jia Kun (Note 3) &5 (FEs) 01 nafER natER natER neMER naTER naTER
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Guo Xiao Ying (Note 1) A (7E1) 01 nafER nafEAR naMER nef™ER naTER nalTER
Cheng Chak Ho (Note 2) g2z (Mi2) 01 nafER nafEA naMER neMER naTER nalER
Notes: e -
(1) Ms. Guo Xiao Ying has resigned as an independent non-executive Director (1) ~ BEAXTEEERIIFNTEE - RTBIET

and ceased to be the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 April 2022.

2 Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
with effect from 1 April 2022.

) Mr. Zhang Jia Kun has resigned as executive Director and ceased to be a
member of each of the Corporate Governance Committee and the Financial
Reporting Committee with effect from 19 January 2022.
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A—RRAER -

BEKE  BZF-—FW

@ SFEREBICHEBELFNTES KTH
REEZREZES FWNZESREFSLEENR
ZEGRAKE BT _FMA—-REAXK -

@) RFEELEBAWITES  RTHETESY
TEEAZESRVBREZESSAKE B
- F AT hBREY -

b EERMHERIE 2022 % 33



Corporate Governance Report

A\ 2. I \\
PEREG®RE

Any Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Audit
Committee members sitted in the Board. The non-compliances with the
Listing Rules in relation to board composition arose due to the resignation
of Mr. Wong, Ms. Guo and Dato Dr. Cheng. Pursuant to Rules 3.11 and
3.27 of the Listing Rules, the Company should appoint suitable
candidates to fill the vacancies within three months after failing to meet
the requirements under the Listing Rules from the date of resignation of
Mr. Wong, Ms. Guo and Dato Dr. Cheng respectively. However, the
process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancies in order to
re-comply with the Listing Rules was halted since the Company was
ordered to be wound up on 16 May 2022 as explained in the section
“WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY BY THE COURT” above.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the newly appointed Directors has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’'s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
will from time to time fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties
and responsibilities, such that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the continuing
professional development programmes received by each of the Directors
during the Year is summarised as follows:
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Name of Directors Type of training
EEMER EIER
Mr. Yang Ying Min Aand B
BERREE AKB
Mr. Qian Yi Dong Aand B
Bk E AKB
Mr. Shen Jian Aand B
LR & AKB
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun (Note 1) N/A
SRR IR SE A (7)) TEA
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho (Note 1) N/A
SELESHE L (ME1) TEA
Ms. Guo Xiao Ying (Note 1) N/A
oA £ (PHFE1) e

A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars,
briefings, conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

Note 1: The Company did not receive the training records from Mr. Zhang Jia Kun,
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho and Ms. Guo Xiao Ying, who resigned during the
year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In compliance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of the Company, (i)
all the non-executive Directors should be appointed for specific terms, (ii)
all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election, and (iii) any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-election at
such meeting.
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE LISTING RULES IN
RELATION TO BOARD COMPOSITION

1.

The total number of independent non-executive directors accounts
for less than one-third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules;

The number of independent non-executive directors and the
number of members of the Audit Committee have become less
than three which are below the minimum requirement prescribed
under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules respectively;

Since there is no independent non-executive director, none of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules;

The Remuneration Committee only consists of one member who is
not an independent non-executive Director, and hence the
Company does not meet all the requirements of Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules as the Remuneration Committee does not comprise a
majority of independent non-executive directors as members; and

There is a vacancy for the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee resulting in non-compliance with the requirement
prescribed under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The above non-compliances arose due to the resignation of Mr. Wong,
Ms. Guo and Dato Dr. Cheng. Pursuant to Rules 3.11 and 3.27 of the
Listing Rules, the Company should appoint suitable candidates to fill the
vacancies within three months after failing to meet the requirements under
the Listing Rules from the date of resignation of Mr. Wong, Ms. Guo and
Dato Dr. Cheng respectively.

However, the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the
vacancies in order to re-comply with the Listing Rules was halted since
the Company was ordered to be wound up on 16 May 2022 as explained
in the section “WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY BY THE COURT”
above.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board set up various board committees responsible for various
aspect of business of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in May
2006. The members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial
year of 2022 were:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho

(resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)
Ms. Guo Xiao Ying (Chairman)

(resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy of the Group and fixing remuneration packages of the
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws. Details
of the remuneration paid to the respective Directors are set out in Note 12
to the financial statements. No Directors can determine their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted terms of reference which are aligned with the Code. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to discharge its
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, the work performed included the followings:

a. discussing the policy for the remuneration of the Directors;
b. reviewing remuneration packages of the Directors;

C. making recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the
non-executive Directors; and

d. proposed annual remuneration package of newly appointed
Directors to the Board.
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year of 2022
were:

Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho

(resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)
Ms. Guo Xiao Ying

(resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)

The Audit Committee will meet no less than twice a year to review all
business affairs managed by the executive Directors and to review the
interim and annual financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board for approval and to review the effectiveness of
the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are aligned with the Code. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on the Company’s
website.

Corporate Governance Committee

In order to further strengthen the Company’s corporate governance, the
Company established the Corporate Governance Committees on 12
January 2008:

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee during the
financial year of 2022 were as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
(resigned with effect from 1 April 2022)
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun
(resigned with effect from 19 January 2022)
Mr. Shen Jian
(appointed with effect from 19 January 2022)

The major responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee are to
oversee the Company’s corporate governance matters and to ensure that
the Company has complied with the Code. The Corporate Governance
Committee had reviewed the corporate governance report of the
Company and confirmed that the Company had complied with the Code
of the Listing Rules throughout the year except some deviations from the
Code mentioned in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practice”
of this report.
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Financial Reporting Committee

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The Company has also set up a Financial Reporting Committee which
major responsibility is to oversee the preparation of financial statements of
each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow for that year. The
Financial Reporting Committee is also responsible to ensure the
compliance by the Group of disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules in a timely manner.

The members of the Financial Reporting Committee during the financial
year of 2022 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun (resigned with effect from 19 January 2022)
Mr. Shen Jian (appointed with effect from 19 January 2022)

Nomination Function

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the nomination duties
including:

a. reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board on
a regular basis (“Board Diversity Policy”);

b. formulating and adjusting the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing
the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
from time to time;

C. reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

e. making decision on appointment of Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirement set out in the Code. Such
policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and
candidates shall be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates
shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
shall be based on merit and contribution could the selected candidates
could bring to the Board. The Board, from time to time, oversees the
implementation of the policy, and reviews, as appropriate, the policy to
ensure the effectiveness of the policy and continues to give adequate
consideration to these measurable objectives when making
recommendations of candidates for appointment to the Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,320,000 (2021: HK$1,320,000) was
charged to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 for the auditing services provided by Elite
Partners CPA Limited. The auditor’s remuneration for the year 2022 was
borned by Huatune Corporation. There was no non-audit service
assignment provided by Elite Partners CPA Limited during the year (2021:
Nil).

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any shareholder
holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the
Company and the securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at the
head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and
the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.
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The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company shall
serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place of
meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business. If within twenty-one (21) days of
the receipt of such written requisition, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act of
Bermuda.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal
Place of Business and the Company Secretary shall then forward the
same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in the
Board for further handling.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office or principal place
of business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to
put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the
Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, the company secretary has attended
relevant professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
has complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. The Directors meet and communicate
with shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
Chairman proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered
and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting
results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of annual
general meeting.

Our corporate website which contains corporate information, corporate
governance practice, interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company enables the Company’s shareholders to
have timely and updated information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Group to
safeguard investments of the Shareholders and assets of the Group at all
times.

The Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Board reviewed and discussed with the Group’s internal audit
team and the senior management on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control systems including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management. The internal audit team
and the senior management further made recommendations to the Board
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
statutory accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board, to
identify and manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the Board will
also perform regular review on the Group’s performance and internal
control system in order to ensure effective measures are in place to
protect material assets and identify business risks of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management system effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were
identified during the relevant period.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 April 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE  #HE8REREBE

SCOPE, MATERIALITY, AND REPORTING PERIOD
OF THIS REPORT

Principle and Scope of the Report

This is the annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) of North Mining Shares Company Limited (“North Mining”
or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which was
prepared according to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board (the “Main Board”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report includes the business
operations of the Group in both Hong Kong and China during the
reporting period for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting
Period”) relating to the overall performance, risks, strategies, measures
and commitments of four aspects: quality of working environment,
environmental protection, operating practices and community
participation.

During the Reporting Period, the principal activities of the Group are (i)
investment holdings; (i) mining operations — exploitation and exploration
of mineral resources; and (i chemical trading operations. The trading of
mineral resources operation was discontinued. These activities are mainly
operated in mainland China. The office in Hong Kong is primarily
responsible for compliance matters in relation to the listing of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Therefore, after
conducting tests on materiality, the Group decided to include all of its
principal subsidiaries engaged in the above businesses in mainland China
and the office in Hong Kong in this ESG Report. All the information is
extracted from official documents or statistics reports of the Company.

For details of our corporate governance, please refer to our report on
corporate governance from page 31 to page 43 of this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  #HE8REREBE

Overall Approaches and Policies

North Mining has been persisting in creating economic benefits,
promoting business development and performing its corporate social
responsibility to strike a balance between all parties, while advocating
corporate integrity in its pursuit of sustainable development. For our
sustainable development, we are committed to:

° Ensuring the compliance with laws, regulations and standards
applicable to our operations in an ethical and transparent manner;

° Maintaining our stable growth to become a leading mining company
with constant and consistent revenue and returns by ensuring
continuous and healthy growth in production capacity and further
expanding the product mix of our mining operations;

° Maintaining a long-term and sustainable relationship by listening to
the voice of the community to understand the social needs;

° Establishing and maintaining open and transparent communications
with local communities and the public on matters regarding safety,
environment and community relationship;

° Protecting the integrity, health, and benefits of stakeholders on
issues such as co-operation and respect for employees,
communities and environment, for the sake of being recognized as
a company with sustainable development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group believes importance to communications with all internal and
external stakeholders to understand their concerns and needs. We also
believe that listening carefully to the views of stakeholders will help us
develop an effective and comprehensive corporate social responsibility
policy in an objective way. Therefore, we will communicate with
stakeholders through different channels in our daily operations.

With this report, the Group intends to inform stakeholders of the Group’s
performance in other aspects in addition to the financial performance and
business operations. Should any stakeholder has any question or
comment regarding the contents of this ESG Report, he or she is
welcome to share his or her valuable comments with the Group in the
following ways:

Address:  Room 702, 7/F, Wellborne Commercial Centre, 8 Java Road,
North Point, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2520 8433

Fax: (852) 2537 4678

Email: info@northmining.com.hk
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RIE  #HE8REREBE

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

North Mining recognises its responsibility for minimising the impact of its
activities on, and protecting the environment, thus a safety environment
management committee has been established and a designated person
has been assigned to monitor safety issues and impact on environment
during the production process of the Company. During the course of our
business, including mining, processing, production and other processes
at mines, as well as daily office back-up, we adopt relevant prevention
and protection measures on air, water, waste and other aspects to
mitigate the impact on natural environment in view of meeting the
implementation standards for environmental impact assessment.

We ensure the compliance with relevant national regulations and prepare
internal guidelines and codes in accordance with these regulations. Such
regulations, internal guidelines and codes include but not limited to:

° “Letter of Luonan County Environmental Protection Bureau on
Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact Assessment
on the Potassium Feldspar Pilot Project of Shaanxi Dagin
Potassium Industry Limited (BEFE A F #HZEHR A F])” — Luo Huan
Han [2013] No.34

° “Letter on Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact
Assessment on the Mining Project of 1.2 million Tons Per Annum of
Changling Potash Mine of Luonan Dagin Potassium Mining Limited*
(RS AEMEAR A F) — Luo Huan Han [2016] No.93

Environment impact of air pollution:

° Environmental air quality shall be subject to the secondary standard
under the “Air Quality in a Specific Environment” (GB3095 — 2012)

° Dust and yard dust shall be subject to the secondary standard and
unorganized emission limits under the “Comprehensive Air Pollutant
Emission Standards” (GB16297-1996)

° “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

° “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

° “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Pollution From Environmental Noise”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Assessment of
Environmental Impacts”

° “Regulations of Environment Protection in Construction Projects”

o “Decision of the State Council on Several Issues Concerning
Environmental Protection”

° “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

° “Energy Conservation Law”

° “Cleaner Production Promotion Law”
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Waste Treatment:

° “Waste Disposal Ordinance”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes”

Coal-fired boiler exhaust gas:
° Subject to the Period Il Standards of Second Zone under the
“Emission Standards of Air Pollutants for Boilers” (GB13271-2001)

Cooking fume:
° Subject to relevant standards under the “Emission Standard of
Cooking Fume” (GB18483-2001)

According to the aforesaid regulations, the Group has formulated
“Management Standards — Control Standards of Environmental Factors”
to provide precise content and requirements of environmental
management for aspects including “design and development of
products”, “manufacturing, packaging and transportation of products”,
“waste management” and “obtaining of raw materials and natural

resources”.

During the Reporting Period, no violation of environmental laws and
regulations regarding emission of exhaust air and greenhouse gas,
discharge into water and land, as well as hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes that had significant impact on the Group was found. The Group
also confirmed that it was not subject to governmental penalties due to
any violation of aforesaid laws and regulations in the course of business
during the Reporting Period.

Emission

In consideration of inevitable and negative impact of our mining activities
on the ecological structure of land, the Group implements a number of
measures to closely monitor various processes. Environmental protection
and rehabilitation at mines of the Group are in compliance with the “EIA
Report” and the “Soil and Water Conservation Plan”. By starting the
planning and design according to the internal regulations on “Mine
Design”, we carry out appropriate planning for mining processes with
reference to the land, climate, air quality and other environmental
conditions at mining areas. In accordance with the design requirements
and the protection design for open mining areas, our employees are
required to commence work to minimize the impact of production and
work on environment.
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The Group continues to reinforce environmental management on the
basis of meeting the regulated emission standard of manufacturing
enterprises and committing to designing, constructing and operating the
plant and relevant environment protection facilities at the same time, and
also strives to build a long-term effective mechanism for energy
conservation and emission reduction, so as to achieve the goal of
sustainable development. The ISO14001 environmental management
system of the Group passed the annual review and verification of the
certification authority during the Reporting Period, which assured the
validity of certification.

To further enhance the environmental management of our mines, in
addition to regular inspections by the local government on water quality,
air quality and noise of our mines, we will appoint intermediaries to check
our mining and production activities for the purpose of improving our
environmental protection measures according to their recommendations.

Air Pollution — emission of exhaust air, greenhouse
gas and dust

In order to prevent environmental destruction, the Group has unified
processes in disposing tailings and waste rocks for the construction of
slag-stacking dams. Besides managing wastes disposal at production
sites, we have also adopted measures in reducing wastes. As potassium
feldspar ores are large in size and evenly stratified, we adopt the mine
blasting technique to control the distribution of shot holes and the use of
explosives to improve mining efficiency and ore recovery. We achieve the
goal of no emission, discharge and disposal of “three wastes” (i.e. waste
water, waste gas and solid waste) by recycling and reuse.

In respect of the emission control of chemical trading operations, Anhui
Tongxi has formulated and implemented relevant environmental
management procedures in accordance with laws and regulations,
including “Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China”,
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes” as well as “Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China”, ensuring the
emission generated during course of the business (including chemical
production, storage, transportation and sales etc.) would not exceed the
national limit.

The Group treats the incurring exhaust gas with lye sprinkling to reduce

substances such as sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide, and dries the
sludge to reduce water content and sludge volume.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

For general office waste, including electronic products, the Group has
formulated a guideline for waste classification, recycling and disposal,
with the waste delivered to qualified professional waste recycling
companies for centralized processing.

The Group carries out the principles of segregated management and
centralized treatment of hazardous waste to achieve the goals of
reduction, recycling and biosafety, establishes a sound hazardous waste
management system, takes measures to prevent hazardous waste from
polluting the environment, conducts separate collection and storage of
hazardous waste and designates relevant marks, and regularly delivers
the collected hazardous waste to qualified unit for treatment according to
environmental protection regulations to avoid environmental pollution.

Wastewater Treatment

Anhui Tongxi has obtained the “pollutant discharge permit” issued by the
local environmental protection bureau, all discharged wastewater has
been processed by sewage treatment equipment, which is in compliance
with the standard for pollutant emission of China. Anhui Tongxi proactively
facilitates the implementation of water-saving projects including “reusing
of steam condensation” as well as the nearby recycling of wastewater
from work processes, and continues to optimize the reuse rate of such
wastewater and reduces the consumption of new water in the principles
of “source reduction, process control and end treatment”. In addition,
Anhui Tongxi builds wastewater station to guarantee the qualified
discharge of wastewater.
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Emission Data Summary:

HHRMBBERE

Unit 2021
Types of emission HMmES By —E-—F
Greenhouse gas emission B SRS RN
— Scope 1 - Direct emission — BE— —EER kilogram
¢ Fuel consumption o AELERE T N/A R A N/A 7@
- Scope 2 - Indirect emission — EE - —REENR (carbon dioxide
e Electricity consumption o BHHEE equivalent) 83,356,880 90,563,746
- Scope 3 - Other indirect emission — #iE = —HaEEHNR (ZALRE=S
e Paper consumption o WERIEFE 6,422 6,977
e \Water consumption o JKEFE 411,973 447,592
Exhaust gas emission RESRHERR
— Nitrogen oxide — "R&m gram N/A 738 F N/A T iE
— Sulphur dioxide — —&1tm = 110,054 119,569
— Particulates — R N/A FiE H N/A T3
Waste water 557K tonne 113,091 122,868
&
Waste REEY
— Hazardous waste — AEEEY tonne 1,207 1,311
— Non-hazardous waste — EEEEY ] 98 107
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Disclosures of the key performance indicators (the “KPI”) of the Group in
Aspect A1 of the ESG Guidelines are summarized as follows:

KPI'A1.1

KPI'A1.2

KPI'A1.3

KPI'A1.4

KPI A1.5

KPI'A1.6

Types of emissions and emission data (if applicable) are
set forth in the data summary above.

Total emission of greenhouse gases is set forth in the
above paragraphs. Greenhouse gases generated in the
course of daily operations do not exceed the highest
levels permitted by relevant laws. For Scope 1 of
greenhouse gas emission, the Group does not record
and compile comprehensive emission data on direct
emission from operating machineries in the course of
business. In addition, the Group does not capture the
exact trip records of motor vehicles, thus cannot
calculate emission of nitrogen oxide and particulates.

Total hazardous waste is set forth in the data summary
above.

Total non-hazardous waste is set forth in the data
summary above.

Measures to reduce emissions and results achieved can
be referred to the above paragraphs.

Methods of treating waste and measures to reduce
emissions are set forth in the paragraph headed
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment
above.
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Use of Resources

Effective resources utilization is our aim. We minimize losses during our
production process and make full use of resources by recycling and
reuse. During the crushing process, we break the rocks into a suitable
size to reduce losses. We will also reselect from the slag to fully use the
resources.

Besides environmental management on our mines and chemicals, we
also implement a number of measures to save energy and reduce
emissions at the office. The use of all office equipment is subject to the
rules of “turning equipment on when needed, keeping equipment on
standby mode when idled, and turning equipment off when leaving the
office”. Certain specific measures include:

° Control lighting equipment by a timer based on summer and winter
time;

° Stipulate operating regulations on electric appliances in the office,
for example, turning off lights in the office during noon break;

° Switch off the power supply of all electrical equipment after work
and purchase energy-saving and environment-friendly products;

° Strictly prohibit employees from wasting water by regulating water
consumption with the principle of water conservation;

° Use recyclable teacups and hot water as much as possible and
reduce disposable bottled drinking water for meetings and group
activities;

° Post slogans like “saving water” in corridors and washrooms of the
office for raising the awareness of energy conservation;

° Create a paperless office by encouraging the use of e-mails and
other electronic documents, and require internal documents to be
printed on both sides, as well as recycle waste paper.

Moreover, all production plants should comply with, and be approved by,
the energy management system to further strengthen energy
management. As such, the Group has further strengthened the control
over the energy-consumption index of main working procedures to
complete the energy efficiency monitoring work on key energy-
consuming equipment and facilities. In addition, each unit has established
a comprehensive control index to perfect the energy index assessment
and the energy efficiency benchmarking system. The Group encourages
its production plants to continuously increase the use of clean energy to
facilitate the establishment of a sufficient, safe and clean energy supply
system. The Group reviews its internal policies on environment protection
from time to time and evaluates practicable environment protection
factors in daily operations for the sake of improving the utilization rate of
resources.
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Resource Consumption Data Summary:

BFERBERE -

Unit 2021
Type of resource consumption BREEESR By —EF- %
Water 7K tonne 606,539 658,979
195
Electricity ESp)) kilowatt hour 1,049,266,692 1,139,984,152
TR
Fuel (including petroleum AR (B IR A &) litre 768,770 835,236
and gasoline)
— motor vehicle, vessel and other —E - MR EM NI
transportation vehicle FEHT A
Fuel (including petroleum R (BiEAERAH) litre 109,148 118,584
and gasoline)
— equipment and machinery — SRR NI
Paper 4R tonne 0.97 1.05
e
Package materials (plastic) BEYE (R tonne 0.32 0.35
A
Package materials (Corrugated) BEYIE () tonne 751 816
148

Disclosures of the KPIs of the Group in Aspect A2 of the ESG Guidelines 3t 7~ % [E B B ESG #5 5| /R A2 [Z [ H B 42 48 s dg

are summarized as follows: ZEZIE - BT
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type and g4 4 BUE1E A2.1 RERNNREE SN EE
intensity is set forth in the data summary above. RS EERREED
IR BB HE -
KPI A2.2 Total water consumption is set forth in the data summary  RE424E SUEIZEA2.2 BEKEEHF R E&
above. BRE -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives is set forth B 4E 512 A2.3 BeR (AR 2 2 A
in the paragraph above. B EA A FEETE o
KPI A2.4 The Group does not have any problem in acquiring  EE@ESUEIEA2.4  AREEFGRKEEB/NR
appropriate water sources, and believes that our water WEIMEE WRAE
consumption is at a reasonable level. Water efficiency FAXKERENESIEKF -
initiatives are set forth in the paragraph above. AR RFTE 2 EHHRA
LA L ERS% o
KPI A2.5 Types and data of packaging materials are set forth in the  FF4@E&BUEIEA25 EEMEIEELESEDH

data summary above.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In view of mitigating the impact on the environment and natural resources
caused by the Company, we have strictly followed the Implementation
Standard for Environmental Impact Assessment in running our production
and business activities via building slag fields to lessen dust pollution, and
implemented recyclable production and reused wastewater to lessen
water pollution.

Besides reducing the impact of our work on the land ecology, we are also
actively engaged in greening and reclamation. Vegetation restoration is
indispensable in the construction of mining area. To prevent unnecessary
vegetation removal, we clearly demarcate the vegetation area to be
removed. Since our mine construction is at the primary stage only, it is
unsuitable for any meaningful greening project. However, we will design
our greening projects in detail based on the guidelines set out in “EIA
Report” and “Soil and Water Conservation Plan” and also the construction
progress of mines. Upon completion of production at the mining area, we
will gradually restore the ecological environment by carrying out
environmental protection and restoration management as planned.

Furthermore, the Group proactively enhances staff’s awareness of
environmental protection to implement the concept of sustainable
development. As such, the Group continues to reinforce the propaganda
and education on energy conservation and consumption reduction,
actively conducts environmental protection trainings and routine
emergency drills and steps up the efforts in the publicizing and
implementation of the new “Environmental Protection Law” and relevant
systems by organizing expert lectures, and setting up environmental
protection column, etc., thereby striving to enhancing the legal sense and
awareness of environmental protection of workers and members of the
management team.

The Group proactively guides its departments to realize the concept of
green office and advocates to save resources and energy, reduce
pollutant emissions, use and recycle renewable products, and also
upholds the idea of people first and harmonious office, thus taking the
lead to create a green and comfortable office environment for its staff.
The Group advocates the planting of green plants in the office to purify air
and reduce air pollution. The Group implements a comprehensive
enterprise environmental protection system by assigning dedicated
personnel for environmental protection. In addition, environmental
protection responsibility statements are signed by all levels of
management to achieve the goals of “dedicated personnel, delegated
responsibilities, assigned tasks and stipulated rewards and punishment”
and to make environmental protection management cover all operation
posts and all staff.
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Disclosures of the KPIs of the Group in Aspect A3 of the ESG Guidelines

are summarized as follows:

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impact of activities on the

R e BT

environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them are set forth in the paragraph

above.

RASEAE IR 1R AS.1

PoETINIAL

A B H BIESG 15 51 A3 JE H H B 52 45 AUt

W ERBERSHHRELK
RERHER
REUEIE A B

YeRE
yen

L

X% ©

2022
—fs—-=
Quantity

HE

Total number of employees ET4# Person 708 669
A

By gender bgdsll
- Male — B Percentage 74.8 76.4
- Female — 7% ERaN=d 25.2 23.6
By employment nature REFTE
- Full-time permanent staff —2RREHET Percentage 80.2 67.9
— Full-time contract staff —2RANET Bkt 19.8 31.1
— Temporary/part-time staff —fRE FRBET 0 1
By rank R
- Management executives —1THEBAE Percentage 9.18 9.72
— Other staff —HEMET ANk 90.82 90.28
New employee MEET
- Male — B Person 33 12
- Female — 4 A 24 8
Employee turnover BIRK
- Male — 5B Person 15 82
- Female — % A 3 32
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Employment, Remuneration and Benefit Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 708 employees (2021: 669).
The Group is committed to providing a good and safe working
environment for its employees. On the basis of the “Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Employment Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Labor Standards Act” and industry practice, we have
formulated relevant employment and labour practices, covering
recruitment and dismissal, remuneration and promotion, working hours,
holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, other packages, and benefits
policies and guidelines, to ensure all of our employees are treated equally.
All employees have access to detailed policies and provisions in this
regard which clarify their rights and responsibilities.

To attract and retain employees, the Group has developed a competitive
remuneration and benefits system, including basic remuneration,
employee benefits and interests such as mandatory provident fund,
insurance, annual leave, sick leave, various allowances and severance
payment. We also arrange shift leave or compensation leave for staff who
work overtime according to their work nature, and pay remuneration to
employees who work overtime reasonably. The Group also offers
additional remuneration and benefits, such as employee assessment
bonuses, with reference to factors including employee performance,
financial performance and market conditions. For long service staff, we
will provide length of service awards to thank for their contribution to the
Company over the years.

Based on the nature of our business, there will be more outsourced
construction workers and equipment installation personnel during the
construction of our mines. For external personnel, the Company will pay
contractual payment by installments. If they are not paid on time, we will
urge the relevant party to make the payment first, failing which, we will
pay them out of the total project payment after negotiation with the other
two parties.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group has a fair recruitment and promotion system. The evaluation
for recruitment or promotion and the determination of remuneration and
benefits are based on individuals’ scope of work, qualifications, work
performance, company performance and market conditions. In
guaranteeing equal opportunities for our employees, no employee is
discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due to gender, race,
religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any other cause.
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Dismissal Policy

Regarding policies for dismissing employees, should an employee commit
serious misconduct and show no improvement after repeated warnings,
the supervisor and senior management of the Company should conduct
a comprehensive internal discussion. Before being dismissed, an
employee should be allowed to respond and explain. Reasons for
dismissal should be clearly presented to the employee, and the dismissal
procedure must be made in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.

Employee Communication

We advocate open communication and encourage employees of different
positions and posts to express their views through different channels,
including communicating with the management directly or through
corporate activities. In order to understand our development history and
vision, and the realization of our own value, propaganda for corporate
culture will be organized upon the entry of staff. We also organize festive
meals, leisure trips and other activities to recognize their hard work,
alleviate the fatigue from work and enhance team cohesion.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to employment that had significant impact
on the Group.

Health and Safety
Safety First

The ore mining business involves dangerous processes to a certain
extent. In view of this, the Group attaches top priority to providing
employees with a safe working environment. In order to achieve the goal
of safe operation, we have developed comprehensive work health and
safety guidelines, including “safety training system”, “safety regular
meeting system”, “safety inspection system” and “safety hazard
investigation system”, with reference to industry practice and regulatory
requirements, and have strictly supervised and implemented the same. A
safety committee has been set up to deal with and respond to safety
issues and emergencies. The safety committee will conduct safety
inspection of the working environment on a regular basis (including a
semi-annual safety assessment) and formulate safety guidelines according
to the “Safety Assessment Report” prepared by them.
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The environment of mines usually involves higher risks. As such, we put
great emphasis on employees’ occupational health and safety awareness.
We enhance safety education and provide relevant safety training and
knowledge for employees, including equipping with fire prevention
equipment, watching videos about fire prevention, first aid and electrical
safety. We arrange a 3-day safety training for safety management staff bi-
annually under the organisation of the government. Training contents are
prepared uniformly by safety supervision units at municipal level according
to relevant requirements of national laws and regulations. Upon the
completion of training, a related examination will be held. Such training
will also enhance the entire safety management system significantly.

In addition, the Company requires the provision of relevant qualification
certificates for specific operations and equipment, such as qualification
certificates for specific electricians, specific equipment operation permits
for loader drivers and excavator drivers.

Physical and Mental Health

We also organize a variety of activities for our employees to enhance the
interaction between them, promote employees’ physical and mental
development, maintain work-life balance and strengthen their sense of
belonging.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no major safety incident and
work-related injury. Also, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards that had significant impact on the
Group.
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Development and Training

Training statistics:

BRRIEI
FAlgEat -

2022 2021
—E—= =4
Unit Quantity Quantity
B HE He
Total number of employees receiving 2 E2H2H)I| & T {EER Person 568 537
training A
Proportion of employees receiving SEEYET(HET Percentage 80 80
training to total number of @ AL
employees
Total training hours Praprallliasy oy hour 20,110 20,110
/NBF
Average training hours SRR E hour 35.38 37.45
NiE

We are convinced that employee development is critical to the sustainable
development of our business. The Group continues to promote the
culture of learning and encourages employees to actively equip
themselves with knowledge. We provide our staff with professional
knowledge through various trainings and development programs to
improve their quality and skills and facilitate their development. All new
recruits will be offered induction trainings to become familiar with the
Company'’s culture, business and operation.

The Group determines the remuneration and benefits of employees with
reference to their job appraisal based on the nature of their work,
qualifications, work performance and market conditions. We encourage
internal promotion and provide a fair promotion platform, adequate on-
the job and professional training as well as promotion opportunities for
employees. The Group attaches importance to the views of employees
and encourages them to discuss their promotion and the objective of
career development with the management. Training and development
plans include but not limited to:

° Safety training on mine operations

o Professional knowledge of mining and other aspects

° Seminars/guidelines on relevant regulations

° Knowledge relating to listing rules and corporate governance
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Labour Standard

The Group strictly complies with the “Employment Ordinance” of Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the “Regulation on Labour Security
Supervision” of the State Council of the People’s Republic of China. All
recruitment procedures and promotions are strictly supervised by the
Group’s human resources management system. Due to its capacity as an
ore mining and processing enterprise and given the nature of our work,
the Group has more male staff. However, the Group has no specific
gender requirement on staff in our recruitment.

The Group has strict rules on the conduct of all our employees, including
directors and management, to protect employees from any form of
harassment and bullying and ensure employees are treated equally. We
are committed to protecting human rights, prohibiting the employment of
forced labour and child labour in business operation, and ensuring that all
employees are not discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due to
gender, race, religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any
other cause.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no child labour and forced
labour, and no incident of discrimination due to race, religion, age and
disability was reported.

OPERATING PRACTICE
Supply Chain Management
Procurement Policy

The Group values integrity and holds the same ethical standards for
suppliers and partners. We have a stringent “Company Contract
Management System” to regulate all procurement activities. We mainly
take costs, product quality and track record into consideration in the
selection of suppliers, and only those with good business record and
without serious violation of regulations or business ethics will be selected.
The provision of products and services by suppliers are all made in
accordance with our stringent procurement tender procedures and are in
line with our requirements. Suppliers are strictly prohibited from obtaining
supply contracts through any form of interest transfer.
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The Group will grant the supplier fair and reasonable conditions when
purchasing goods from the supplier and will not exploit the supplier in any
way. Meanwhile, the Group will evaluate the products provided by the
supplier, check whether the supplier has fulfilled the product liability and
report relevant information in time to ensure that its products meet the
requirements of the Group, or replace the supplier when necessary.

Communication with Supplier

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not replace any major
supplier. The Group endeavours to maintain a long-lasting and favourable
relationship with major suppliers and to enhance mutual communication
and understanding, so as to bring about stable supply and costs of raw
materials for the Group to a certain extent.

Product Responsibility
Focused on Quality Understanding the Customers

We perform extremely stringent quality control on our products and
services to ensure the products meet the specifications and requirements
of our customers. We will also be actively aware of the needs of our
customers via on-site sales and marketing activities; customers will also
be invited to visit our Company for the promotion of our products and
philosophy. We will review the service process with reference to customer
feedback. If a customer complains and requests for compensation, the
Group will promptly deal with the case and investigate the complaint from
customer. We will also undertake follow-up procedures, thorough
investigations and review to optimize our customer service.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received no significant complaint
or claim related to the quality of the Group’s products from our
customers.

Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property

We respect the privacy and intellectual property of our customers and
operate in compliance with relevant requirements under the “Intellectual
Property and Patent Law”. We require employees to properly handle
customers’ business sensitive information and will not resell for profit to
prevent our customers from making losses.

We also strive to protect our own intellectual property. The Group
commenced product research and development on human face
recognition technology, intellectual image analytical technology and
application during the Reporting Period. Therefore, relevant subsidiaries
have strictly observed the internal guideline to require their staff to handle
the information of related technology properly and prohibit any individual
(such as staff, clients and business partners) who is accessible to those
information be benefited from transferring or selling the same.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group had no incident of violation of
intellectual property in its products, technologies, and the daily business
operation.

Advertising and Labelling

To attract customer and improve sales, we will carry out marketing and
promotional campaigns for our products. These campaigns comply with
the “Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Interim
Measures for the Administration of Internet Advertisement” and other
applicable laws and regulations governing advertising and labelling
enacted by relevant government authorities. We stand by the principle of
law-abiding to operate our production and business activities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all of the relevant
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters of our products and services that had significant
impact on the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has always maintained a “good faith” business, striving for a
clean working atmosphere and requiring directors and all employees to
strictly comply with the relevant legal norms and ethical standards. We
have formulated and strictly implemented a series of anti-corruption
measures according to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other national laws and regulations. The Group has an internal
audit team and an audit committee and also appoints external lawyers
and auditors to comply with the corporate governance and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for listed companies.
We will regularly review the internal governance mechanism to improve
our governance standard.

For the day-to-day business operations, the Group will not allow any
corruption and fraud. All relevant provisions on anti-corruption, anti-
bribery and conflicts of interest have been set out in the Code of Conduct
for Employees to ensure that employees are in strict compliance with the
law at work. The Group provides employees with information on anti-
corruption regularly to enhance their awareness of corruption and develop
good professional conduct.
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The board of directors plays a vital role in anti-corruption and can
challenge all the operation and management activities of the Group. In the
financial aspect, the directors are under absolute supervision to prevent
irregularities of all kinds. By virtue of the authority vested by the board of
directors, the management is committed to preventing corruption in
accordance with the corporate process.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

If any corruption or fraud is found, it may be reported by any person
through our open internal mailbox. We will conduct investigation promptly
and report the same to the management and relevant law enforcement
departments.

During the Reporting Period, we did not notice any issue in breach of
laws against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
that had significant impact on the Group. In addition, the Group did not
notice any significant risk and problem.

COMMUNITY
Community Investment

The Group attaches importance to building a harmonious corporate and
community relationship with its communities through active participation
in activities of its communities. We discuss with the community’s key
persons from time to time to understand local community’s perception of
our corporate. We will integrate the views from community stakeholders
into our daily operation with a view to getting on harmonious with the
community.

The Group is actively considering to promote corporate social
responsibilities within the enterprise, organize or participate in appropriate
community activities, thus enabling our employees to make personal
contribution to the community and enhance their community awareness.
We hope to support targeted poverty alleviation objects through different
activities, so as to improve the living, learning and working environment of
our community.
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RIE  #HE8REREBE
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A1 EMISSIONS

23587
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and  Environment —

regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to air ~ Emission

and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES
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General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
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A3 THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
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General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
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Employment and Labour Practices
EFERE T EH
B1 EMPLOYMENT
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General Disclosure

—RRIEE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
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B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

RERZE

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
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—RIEE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

& TR

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

Operating Practices

ZEREY

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

AL E TR H S THRE  RETHETABEALEN
LR BRI AR -

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

HERERE

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

IR HEBARE RS ERBUR

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

EmE

General Disclosure

—RIEE

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

REF

General Disclosure

—RRI R

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling, privacy and remedy relating
to products and services provided.

ARFREESMRBEOREREZS  ES  RRRLEFEMN
RAMROTAMEGE - RETHETABEAVEN RN ER LA
PRI E R -

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities ~ Community
take into consideration the communities’ interests. Investment
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB E

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Members of

North Mining Shares Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(In Liquidation)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Mining
Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 194, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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B BN E

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$246,058,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that
date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$2,854,163,000 and HK$1,506,078,000 respectively. As stated in note
1.3 to the consolidated financial statements, these events or conditions
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In light of the
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position as set
forth in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to fulfil its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future upon successfully
implementing these measures. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

FRARBAEKE 2ERTHRES
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SERBE_T__F+_A=t—BLLFEK
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BB E

KEY AUDIT MATTER

FARENEER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of A EFFTHEEEBER OIS HE - AAEH K
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Hi4GF A BERER B ZAEEMNEFIE - X =18
the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit ~ BEKFIEXELRAVHEHRERLREAES REE
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our  {TEIEH - FFI TS HZEHIRMEBHER -
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. GAEBEERE ZEATEEE—E i ER
In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to 4 » H IR &5 H A T SHHE AR KNRETEBY
Going Concern section, we have determined the matter described below — B§igz=st%18

to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

BEENER

Impairment assessment of cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for
the mining exploitation operations and trading of chemical
products operations
BFHAREFEREE(EREF R EL B ([HeELE
fiz]) B9 (E a1

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had property, plant and
equipment, mining rights, goodwill and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$699,942,000, HK$852,585,000,
HK$13,403,000 and HK$44,018,000, respectively. The
management considered those assets were related to the CGUs
for the mining exploitation operations and trading of chemical
products operations.

RZZEZZF+_A=+—0  BEBEZY¥ KEKEH
R HEREBEEED B 4 5699,942,000% 7T
852,585,000 7T * 13,403,000 7T & 44,018,000 7T » & 12
ERRZEEERBEERAREBREBECEMER2RECES
BRAEM -

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the management
determined the recoverable amounts of the CGUs based on
value-in-use, which is the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from the CGUs.

HRETEME  EEERBERAEEGIEHREREES
BizAKBRenEsRBE)ETREESLEU 2 KEIS5E -

We had identified impairment of CGUs for the mining exploitation
operations and trading of chemical products operations as a key
audit matter because significant management judgement was
required to determine the key assumptions including but not
limited to the estimated recoverable resources, commodity
prices, operating margins and discount rate.
HMEHEXAREGREECEREB 2R eEEELRE
BRIAERETEIE  RARETHRERE (BFEETRERNE
STAINEER  EmER  KENEERERER)FTLERRE
PEHE A HIET -

How the matter was addressed in our audit report

AREE G NAERZBE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
CGUs for the mining exploitation operations and trading of
chemical products operations included:

B BEERREB R EBCERES CREEL B
BEREENT 2 R B E

o We assessed the appropriateness of management’s
identification of the CGUs and allocation of non-
current assets based on the Group’s accounting
policies and our understanding of the Group’s
business;

. BMRE SEXBEONSHBEREERME S5
BHOTR EEERINEeEEEML RO
MEVEEHEN

o We obtained and reviewed cash flow forecasts of the
CGUs prepared by the management and approved
by the directors of the Company;

. BMRETENHEEERRILL BEQARESH
HEZREELEBNBESRETEA

° We discussed with management in relation to the
methodology, basis and assumptions used in arriving
the forecasts to see whether the methodology, basis
and assumptions used were reasonable; and

. BMEEREENwmERBRAMAZ 7L HERRK
Fo AEMAZAE HERBREEEAE R

o We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
reliance of the input data used.
. B mERE AR E AR 2 ERIE R AT FEE -
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B BN E

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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BB E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B E R

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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B 2 B E RS

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lock Kwong Hang, Simon with Practising
Certificate number P0O6735.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 April 2023

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmakHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2022
—E_-_—F
HK$’000
FET
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue g 5(a) 1,295,666 1,350,367
Cost of sales & AR (1,108,585) (1,204,431)
Gross profit EF 187,081 145,936
Other income H A 5(b) 2,820 3,943
Research and development cost IR WIN (32,048) (36,626)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment losses T8 #i{Z & & 18 ([TEEAEEE1E])
under expected credit loss (“ECL”), net H N REEE (BE) B e T 6 (542) 2,333
Other gains and losses Hofth e zx K 518 7 (103,351) (111,989)
Administrative expenses THRAX (159,824) (162,490)
Loss from operations rEEE (105,864) (158,893)
Finance costs B & R AR 9 (140,030) (301,194)
Loss before income tax BRETEBLATE 1B 10 (245,894) (460,087)
Taxation Ti1a 14 (164) ©)
Loss for the year from REFELSEEBNEAEEFE
continuing operations (246,058) (460,096)
Discontinued operations BRIEEE K
Gain for the year from REBRIFEEEBHATE
discontinued operations =5 11 - 3,339
Loss for the year KEEZEE (246,058) (456,757)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEEakHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # % —

T+ H=1—HIEE

==

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5E FET AT
Other comprehensive income/(expense) b2 Ekz (B)
(Net of tax effect): (MBRBIBRE) !
Items that may be reclassified RAEE AJBEERT 748
subsequently to profit or loss: BEmZEE -
Exchange differences arising from BEEINIBRARIEE S
translation of foreign subsidiaries TEH =% 8,828 4,077)
Release of exchange difference upon HEEINHTE A REE R
disposal of foreign subsidiaries BN =58 - 4,981
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEmRES
for the year 8,828 904
Total comprehensive expenses AEEXHEBXAR
for the year (237,230) (455,853)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable KATHEBARLEEEE
to owners of the Company (F]), = F
from continuing operations RAFFEELED (162,643) (359,902)
from discontinued operations RECKR I EER - 2,170
Loss for the year attributable to AKREHE ABIGAFEEE
owners of the Company (162,643) (857,732)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable FERERELEREE
to non-controlling interests (&518) % F
from continuing operations REAFELEER (83,415) (100,194)
from discontinued operations REDRIEEET - 1,169
Loss for the year attributable to FEPRRR HE B4 AN S B 1B
non-controlling interests (83,415) (99,025)
Loss for the year TEEBE (246,058) (456,757)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmakHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2022
—E_-_—F
HK$’000
FEx
Total comprehensive expense DTFATEGZERBEZAE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE Z =N (185,767) (340,385)
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS (51,463) (115,468)
(237,230) (455,853)
Total comprehensive expense RARBEEAEGLZEBAX
attributable to owners of the Company: #%8 :
from continuing operations REFELEER (185,767) (345,793)
from discontinued operations REBRIEEHER - 5,408
(185,767) (340,385)
Loss per share BREE
From continuing and discontinued REFEMBRILE
operations BEETE
— Basic and diluted, HK cents — ERREE - B 16 (0.70) (1.53)
From continuing operations REABEEEET
— Basic and diluted, HK cents — EARREE - B 16 (0.70) (1.54)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e S Oy

As at 31 December 2022 R=—FE - —4F+=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B sE FH&xT FHT
ASSETS BE
Non-Current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MK 17 699,942 662,835
Mining rights g 18 852,585 926,430
Goodwill Bma 19 13,403 13,403
Right-of-use assets EREEE 32(a) 44,018 54,119
1,609,948 1,656,787
Current assets REBEE
Inventories R 20 271,949 236,893
Trade and bill receivables IR R =& 21 9,468 17,386
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE « e REM UK
other receivables 22 114,291 185,358
Cash and cash equivalents HehBEeEEY 23 11,344 20,733
407,052 460,370
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 2,017,000 2,117,157
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital [i&N 24 373,926 373,926
Reserves 1 (1,700,425) (1,514,658)
Equity attributable to owners of KAREB AEEEZ
the Company (1,326,499) (1,140,732)
Non-controlling interests IEIEAR RE (179,579) (128,116)
TOTAL EQUITY ERAsE (1,506,078) (1,268,848)
LIABILITIES =R
Non-Current liabilities kRBAE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITE R R EAD G 29 16,890 11,012
Lease liabilities HEAE 32(b) 7,589 8,502
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 25 237,384 257,945
Other payables H AR 28 - 17,510
261,863 294,969
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e R R ERR

As at 31 December 2022 R=ZFE - —4F+=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E_— —E_—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B sE FET FHT
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables R R R 26 286,444 273,541
Other payables and accruals BN R ERTER 28 1,022,009 891,361
Contract liabilities AHEE 30 222,963 44,049
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EMER 29 1,325,375 1,388,375
Provision for environmental and IRIR KR BRI R
resources tax 27 - 105,428
Lease liabilities HEGE 32(b) 236 207
Corporate bond TEEH 31 404,188 388,048
Tax payables FESHLIR - U
3,261,215 3,091,036
TOTAL LIABILITIES S B8 3,523,078 3,386,005
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkEEAE 2,017,000 2,117,157
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (2,854,163) (2,630,666)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT YEMERRDEM
LIABILITIES (1,244,215) (973,879)
NET LIABILITIES EEFE (1,506,078) (1,268,848)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for 4GAMBEREREEETERN T -_=FMPA -+ N
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and signed on its behalf ~ B#b&EMIEET]EE - WH NIATREESE -
by:

Yang Ying Min Qian Yi Dong
BRER B8]
Director Director

BE FE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

At 1 January 2021 RZE--F-A-A 373926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 12,676 (268,052)  (4,712.280)  (800,347) (12,648)  (812,99)
Loss for the year T5EER - - - - - - - BT @773 (99025 (456,757)
Exchange difference ExzE - - - - - - 14,109 - 14,109 (18,186) (.0m7)
Release upon disposalof ~ HEBNIBLAILER

forelgn subsidlaries - - - - - - 3238 - 3238 1,743 4,981
Total comprehensieloss ~ AEE2EEELEE

for the year - - - - - - 17,347 (357,782)  (340,385)  (115,468) (455,853
At 31 December 2021 RZZ=--5+-8=1-H 373926 3761932 31,350 (894) 99 12,676 (250,705) (5,070,012  (1,140,732)  (128,116)  (1,268,848)
At 1 January 2022 R-E--£-A-A 373926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 12,676 (250,705)  (5,070,012)  (1,140,732)  (128,116) (1,268,848)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - - (162,643)  (162,643) (83,415)  (246,058)
Exchange difference EiEE - - - - - - (23,124) - (23,124) 31,952 8,828
Totel comprehensieloss A E2EFELE

forthe year - - - - - -2 (162649 (185767 (51463  (287.280)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-ZH+-h=1-H 373926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 12,676 (273829)  (5,202,655) (1,326,499)  (179,579) (1,506,078
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT AT
Cash flows from operating activities KETEELE2HESRE
Loss before income tax BRET{S T ATE 1B
— Continuing operations — BFEKEER (245,894) (460,087)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEEEER - (208)
Bank interest income RITH B UA (50) 1)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREREITE 61,591 54,823
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 6,188 6,904
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment #1% « EiE & &85 (E 70 - (419)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment losses of TEEEEEEELN TREEE
under ECL model B (Bm) 542 (2,333)
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEBENERX 972 1,035
Interest on bank and other borrowings and HRITREMERIA R
corporate bonds BERE 139,058 300,159
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEDE  BEK
plant and equipment Bz (Wzs), /BB (75) 1,712
Provision for environmental and resources tax RRRERTEE - 103,792
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital LEESEHR 2 EE
changes (E18), & Fl (37,668) 5,337
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & (gm),/ m (55,559) 47,108
Increase in trade and bill receivables, JEUWBR R R 4R - TR FIE
prepayments, deposits and other receivables oo I E Ath FEUR SR IE N (1,013) (30,198)
Increase in trade and bill payables, JERBR R R ER, - BB
other payables and accruals K FEEtE R M 88,281 193,720
Increase in contract liabilities ABHEREEN 187,906 17,800
Cash generated from operations RSB ZIRE 181,947 233,772
Tax paid BHIE (171) (194)
Environmental and resources tax paid BRRERERB (99,939) -
Net cash generated from operating activities BETEB2HESFE 81,837 233,578
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\ é }Er ﬁ )‘lei % ‘%%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2022 2021
—=—_= T4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P& FET AT
Cash flows from investing activities REFHEEZEESRE
Interest received 2 UFE 50 41
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  UZFE % - i E KRR (89,014) (77,707)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HeEWE  HENSEREHRIA
and equipment 101 -
Addition of right-of-use asset NETREEE (227)
Net cash outflow for disposal of a subsidiary HEKBATZE SR %58 34 - (41)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEBFAZ2RESRE (89,090) (77,707)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBHEEZRERE
Proceed from bank loans and other RITE R R E M SRS RIE
borrowings 41,755 5,180
Loans interest paid BRERFE (8,759) (81,668)
Repayment of bank loans and other BEFETERREMER
borrowings (25,053) (77,213)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (1,186) (1,339)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEEFE(FrA)Z
financing activities HEFE 6,757 (155,040)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HeERRSEBEYORD),
cash equivalents NS (496) 831
Cash and bank balances at 1 January R—BA—BZ2BERBITER 20,733 15,763
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, SNEE RS L T
net (8,893) 4,139
Cash and bank balances at 31 December W+ -—A=+—HzZER&K
RITEEER 11,344 20,733
Analysis of balances of cash and cash RERASEBYWERZOMN
equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re RIBTTHEE 11,344 20,733
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

North Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liabilities. The address of the registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
has been changed to Room 702, 7/F., Wellborne Commercial
Centre, 8 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Its parent is
Universal Union Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI")) and it ultimate parent is China Wan Tai Group
Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong). Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr. Qian Yong Wei. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”). Since 1 April 2021 and till the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the trading of shares
of the Company is suspended.

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mining operations —
exploitation, exploration and manufacture of mineral
resources and sales of chemical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same functional currency of the
Company.

Statement of compliance and basis for
preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

—RENRTEBHAREREE

1.1

1.2

—RER

EHBEROBRAG (AAT]DR
AREGMRIAERRZERA
Ale ARA MM SEMU B
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda > = & &
EMFUNERHILABEBSHEA
HEERE7TETIE - HE QT A
Universal Union Limited (7 2 & Bz %2
HE((RBEZES]) FMKRL) -
MEZFKE AR ATEERSEEGR
DA (REBEMAL) o HERIER
BRRBEKELEE - KRARRNER
BEARSMABRAE (B £
M- AT —FNA—BEEEZ
LAV HERAEMEDR - RAF]

BHEEFEE -

ARRZ EBEBRIERER - AR
AREMBAR(ARER]) 2 X2
BREBXRT — MR - BRERE
BEERMEELSM -

BARBREARATZ LRSS

TLES -

JTEBARGEREE

RAVBRRCRBEEGTMNAE
([BEGFEAE ) EM2BBHE
BEERTHEEVBRSEN DB
o o HAMBHERTHBHR
PRz EmRA(T EmRA) REE
RANGGIFTARE 2 BRABKE -

BT X 2 BT BRI » 4R
AP BRRIIRE LA L ERE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1.

84

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.2 Statement of compliance and basis for

preparation (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial application
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT 1. " REMETEBARGHREE

OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR (&)

PREPARATION (Continued)

1.2 Statement of compliance and basis for 1.2 FEBRARGREE (E)
preparation (Continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value AN - IR EmME © AFEFE
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on BB A T ERE 8 A SR IR
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value ERATFEFER AR HEE
measurements are observable and the significance of the MNEZUSERE—R  F_HNKE
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are = FERBIT

described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . E—RHABBEERBNE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity REARI ARG AREERE
can access at the measurement date; BRERME ZRE(KEH

)

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices . FRBABBEEREELE
included within Level 1, that are observable for the BEEEXBEMAIERZEA
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and FE(E-—RANBREORER

9N R

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or . E=RHABBREEELAE

liability. EORNEIR: RN 67
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1.

86

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$246,058,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022
and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities, net
liabilities and accumulated losses of approximately
HK$2,854,163,000, HK$1,506,078,000 and
HK$5,232,655,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had (i) bank loans and other borrowings of
HK$1,342,265,000, of which HK$1,325,375,000 and
HK$16,890,000 were recorded under current liabilities and
non-current liabilities respectively; and (i) corporate bonds of
HK$404,188,000 recorded under current liabilities. Bank loans
and other borrowings comprised (1) secured borrowings
totaling HK$786,532,000; (2) unsecured borrowings totaling
HK$23,084,000; and (3) other borrowings of
HK$532,649,000. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
bank balances totaling HK$11,344,000. Further, the continuity
of the Group’s operation is dependent upon (i) the success of
the debts restructuring exercise to be carried out which involve
the conversion of borrowing and corporate bond into the
shares of the Company; (i) the withdrawal or dismissal of the
winding-up petition against the Company; and (i) the Group
was able to solicit new funding for their operation. These
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have careful consideration for the
liquidity of the Group in light of the conditions described
above.

*

The English translation of Chinese names is for identification
purpose only
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT 1. REPETESPEREREE
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR (%)
PREPARATION (Continued)
1.3 Going concern (Continued)

®)

1.3 RHERKE (4

[ On 21 February 2023, the Company, the Joint and I n

Several Liquidators and Huatune Corporation* (£ (5=

E)ARA

7)) (the “Investor”) have entered into the

conditional restructuring agreement (“Restructuring
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company will carry
out the restructuring transactions involving:

(i) The directors of the Company proposed to
reorganise the share capital of the Company by:

@

Share Consolidation: every 20 issued and
unissued shares of the Company of par
value of HK$0.016 will be consolidated
into 1 consolidated share of par value of
HK$0.32 each (“Consolidated Share”);

Capital Reduction: immediately after the
Share Consolidation becoming effective,
the par value of every issued Consolidated

(
—E=FfZRA=+—81"
Apa - HRERSHEB AR
EZER(EE)BERARATEE
DI EKEEABZE(E
HipZED B AAEGE
TEERS &9 SR

() ARBEZEZZBEBU
TEIBEEHAARBBRA

@ BRHEH: ARQFA]
Foolk B RMAEE
0.01678 L2 B &
TRARBEITRG 15
AEHB1IKRERE
B0.32 BTz A0
B’ Hmd & #f &

)

()  BRASHIA - EHERR
PR - B
B HEE,0.3078 7T

Share be reduced from HK$0.32 to BEREBEITAG
HK$0.02 by the reduction of HK$0.30, A& 17 2 E{E R 0.32

giving rise to a credit balance of
approximately HK$350,556,000 on the
basis of 1,168,519,314 Consolidated

B ITEIR 2= 0.0278
T EARERE
2%171,168,519,314

Shares then in issue. The credit arising REHIRDETE 2

therefrom will be applied to set off the R & 8 8

accumulated loss of the Company, and 350,556,000/ ¢ ©

the balance of the credit, if any, will be FEE A 2 R

transferred to the contributed surplus HAREARRG 2

account of the Company; RETEE - MR
EREE (B ) R
ERRARZERE
BRAR

Immediately following the Capital
Reduction becoming effective, each of the

€ EEERRASHIRAERR
% §IRMEEO0.32

authorised but unissued Consolidated BT ATEERE
Shares of HK$0.32 each will be sub- 16 O I 1G4
divided into 16 unissued new shares of A6l &k | E

HK$0.02 each (“New Shares”); and

0.028TL 2 REELT
o (R
m) R
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

88

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

[ (Continued)

U

(i)

(Continued)

(d)

Share Premium Reduction: the amount of
approximately HK$3,761,932,000
standing to the credit of the Share
Premium Account be reduced to nil and
that the credit arising therefrom be
transferred to the contributed surplus
account of the Company within the
meaning of the Companies Act and the
total credit of arising therefrom will be
applied to further set off the accumulated
loss of the Company .

Under the Restructuring Agreement, the Investor
agreed to subscribe 256,410,256 New Shares of

the Company immediately upon the Capital

Reorganisation at subscription price of HK$0.156
per share;
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT 1. REPNETEEARGREE
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR (%&)
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued) 1.3 HELE (E)
. (Continued) l. (&)

(i)  Pursuant to the terms of the exclusivity (i) BEARF - HARERZ

V)

agreement dated 8 September 2022 entered
into among the Company, the Joint and Several
Liguidators and the Investor, the Investor has
agreed to provide the credit facility of up to
HK$21,500,000 to the Company till the
completion of Restructuring Agreement; and

The Company proposed a scheme (“Scheme”)
to implement, subject to the approval by the
High Court. Under the Scheme, the Company
will allot and issue 11,086,710,807 New Shares
of par value of HK$0.156 per share to the
creditors to compromise, discharge and/or settle
the debts owing by the Company to the creditors
of approximately HK$1,729,527,000.

Il. The Group will continue to carry out cost control
measurement in forthcoming years, including but not
limited to reduce discretionary expenses and
administrative costs.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

AEBAREEEE
VAHA—_T-—_FAh
ANBZBRmE 214G
o REACDREARN
AN A& %21,500,000
BILIZEEREERSE
HEEER &

(v) AREEHREHEAEI([Z%
AED MAEFSE)
BT ER T AIEE - 1R
Bz g ARREm
& A BB R 21T
11,086,710,807 f% & F%
M {E0.15678 7T 2 1 &
7 AEERE - BB
%,/ 8B BARRQBER
BEE A ZEB LD
1,729,527,000/& 7T °

W

Il AEEBRARBFEEER
AR BRI - BREEARR
B IRD BRI RITHAA

WARERER AL - AlgHAE
EEERMEETAR  AHRER
AR - SRR BEE L 2 E A —
FREFRRE  THERBEER
FERBAESHNEM D ERRDEE
ERBEE REREIFELER
RN AKE A M TERRT -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2.

90

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective on 1 January 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to  Reference to the Conceptual Framework
HKFRS 3
Amendments to  Property, Plant and Equipment —
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to  Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
HKAS 37 a Contract
Amendments to  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

FERFEIREETERMBRE
R (%)

kY

N\

22 BBITEMRERNHTRE

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

BRI BB EHREER

A EEL RS A TEETEY
AT RIGE T B B B RS
8 -

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after

AU B s 2 & Bt
ZEEHBER

HKFRS 17 (including the June 2020 Insurance Contracts
and December 2021 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

BEMBRERFETH (BE
CECTFERARZE—F
T_ABEMBREEAEITHR

1 January 2023

REEE 4 —ZE-=F—HF—H

CCHES)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an A date to be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BRUBREEF 105 R REERHEBENAHEERE LML fFE A

ARG ERIZE 285 (BRI A) BEHESTE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BAEMEMEERE 165 EREENEEAE —ZE_MFE—-H—H

CCHES)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
HEESERRBSIERE R
BERBESH(ZE_ZF) B ZBTA
Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BT 2 EE —EZ=F—HA—H
Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023
Arising from a Single Transaction
BE-RHEEZEENBBERBERLES IR —E-=F—-H—H
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

1 January 2023

BB GETERIFE A5 (BRI A) —ZE-—=#—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 8

BB GETERIFE 8T (BRI A)
Amendments to HKAS 12

ERGEIERIE 125 (IBRTA)
Amendment to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BEEGHERE 1R R rEe
B 5w E 4R
BB RAEE25 (BRIA)

ok

TR —E-=%—F—H

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned B TSl 2 3 ET RS ET B AR 15
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the WAEERISN  KARIEETBHERAT
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will BHEMIMET REIERTB BV G mE%E
have no material impact on the consolidated financial AR AT T8 B AR R & E4R 6 B
statements in the foreseeable future. REEEARTE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

2.

92

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later
date; and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

E_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2022, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

— has power over the investee;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

— has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

—  the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relevant
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

—  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

—  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

— any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s entity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist of
the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

96

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in
the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost as established at
the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based in the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value excepts for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

()

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(0 Amortised cost and interest income
(Continued)

For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, and
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner.

Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses are the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on
loan commitments for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply
a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only
if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on past due
analysis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade and other receivables are
each assessed as a separate group;

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gains or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCI| and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments/receivables.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+_H=1—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. On
derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own
equity instruments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January
2018)/IFRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Mining structure and building,

plant and machinery 20 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 31to 5 years

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

112 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Ownership interests in leasehold land and

building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the

relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16) in
the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as

property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining rights are reclassified from exploration and
evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Amortisation for mining rights
with finite useful lives is provided using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserves of the mineral
mines.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Current assets and current liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of reporting period or in the normal course
of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected
to be settled within twelve months of the end of reporting
period or in the normal course of the Group’s operating
cycle.

3.10Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method.

3.11Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have been decreased:

— Property, plant and equipment
— Right-of-use assets

— Prepaid lease payments

—  Mining rights

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12Impairment of other assets (Continued)
— Recognition of impairment loss

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata basis, except
that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell,
or value in use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill , an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favorable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversible. A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.

3.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”

of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a

bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z - E - —#F+_H=1+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
Standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these
costs only if they meet all of the following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Foreign currencies

(@

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year- end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or
loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Foreign currencies (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  assets and liabilities for each financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(8)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEXREFHBERME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued) 3.15 & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERERBEA ()
Right-of-use assets EHELE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: {FREEERARE

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEFBERMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued) 3.15 HHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERERBEA ()
Lease liabilities HEAE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the date of reassessment; and

° the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEXREFHBERME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued) 3.15 & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERERBEA ()
The Group as lessor KEFERHBEA

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments
with reference to revenue generated by tenants are
recognised as income when they arise.

3.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

3.17 Employee benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated
at their present values.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed
retirement benefits schemes for the employees of the
Group’s overseas entities are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred.

(i)  Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(iv)  The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors and employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting
condition) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

3.18 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year, determined in
accordance with the rules established by the taxation
authorities, upon which income taxes are payable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+_H=1—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.18 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such
deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Company is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.19Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of the time
value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the
present value at the end of reporting period of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

3.20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset
is recognised.

128 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2022

3.

BEAETHEEE (H)

3.19 &

EARSERBESHEHEEREE
FHETEEL - AR RRAHHE
RABITEAE - WeeHA] SE {1 2 Pk
VEEREREy - RIZAMERREME - B
REBEAEATZESN  BHRIAR
RERRBRRBTEETAFNH
Fisc 2 BE

FAREBERHREE
SARERBESMAIGEAEZER
T EFEARTHREEHE—1F
A L SEAREEFTRE T 216 2 N8
BASE T ATHERR » SRR BE TR A REA
BAPAEHEERIE LA EHEH
AERAMYEEREBEFHMES
ZBRBEME - ARBBETTHER I
R BREMERE - EHRERZ
AREMBEREHAIEFTZHRER
A RER A —IRREE -

IREBEIRBEEHAEESCE
B AFEARTSREEHE
AL SEAREEFTRE 2 1S 2 A
BAEMH AR - AREET THE
B MR A BEE B BN S S S E R
BmEMERE - EAR LHRAE
BN - AIGHREE -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEXREFHBERME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
3.21 Related parties 3.21 EREAL
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, MZEGRAPTBEHREMS » BEAL
related parties include a person and an entity as defined BETXHREZBAXEE
below:
() A person or a close member of that person’s family is 0] WEBLA TN AL BIEZA LT %
related to the Group if that person: AT RFEAEEGRE
(@) has control or joint control over the Group; (@ TSI EEGIAEE
(o) has significant influence over the Group; b)) HEEEEEAZE
() is a member of the key management personnel € AERBHRAKRF
of the Company or of a parent of the Company. FIZFEEEREAE -
(i) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any (iy (WA THMERMEY - BIE
of the following conditions applies: HEAEF(CREER)GEE
(@)  the entity and the Company are members of the @ ZEBEAQRBR—
same group (which means that each parent, SEKERE (NS
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the Nal BRI KRR
others); =N KA RN
)
(b)  either entity is an associate or joint venture of the by —HEBRBAR TR
other entity (or of a member of a group of which BN E s A S (s
the other entity is a member); S—EBRKERAZ
SHEETKE R R 2
ERAREERE)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Related parties (Continued)
(Continued)

(i)

(©

©

both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

either entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Company
or an entity related to the Company. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i);

a person identified in (i)(a) has significant voting
power in the entity;

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personal
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Provision for ECL on trade and bills
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
and bills receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e. gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Provision for ECL on trade and bills
receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

Mineral resources and impairment of
mining rights

Mining rights are amortised using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserve of the
molybdenum mines.

The process of estimating quantities of reserves is inherently
uncertain and complex. It requires significant judgment and
decision based on available geological, geophysical
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance becomes
available and as economic conditions impacting mineral
prices and costs change. Reserve estimates are based on
current production forecasts, prices and economic
conditions. The directors of the Company exercise their
judgments in estimating the total proved and probable
reserves of the molybdenum mines. If the quantities of
reserves are different from current estimates, it will result in
significant changes to amortisation of mining rights and affect
the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation, from
which a material loss may arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Mineral resources and impairment of
mining rights (Continued)

The carrying amounts of mining rights are reviewed for
impairment assessment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as
disclosed in the relevant part of this section. The recoverable
amounts of mining rights, or where appropriate, the cash-
generating-units to which they belong, are calculated as the
higher of its fair values less costs to sell and value in use.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to estimate
the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating-
units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Net realisable values of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4

4.5

Estimated impairment of property, plant
and equipment, goodwill and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation,
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amount including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating-unit to which the assets belongs,
including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest
group of cash-generating-units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rate or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimates, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements. The assessment of the
going concern assumption involves making a judgement by
the directors of the Company, at a particular point of time,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company consider
that the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, which may give
rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption are set
out in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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5.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:

e 25 ]2 H At A
AR B R AP Z AT

2022
—=—-=
HK$’000
FExT
Continuing operations BESEER
(a) Revenue recognised at a point (a) RE-—BBIER
in time: Es -
Sales of molybdenum concentrate SHE BN 221,332 179,534
Sales of chemical products HELEm 1,074,334 1,170,833
1,295,666 1,350,367

Revenue from sales of molybdenum concentrate and chemical
products are recognised when (or as) the control of the goods is
transferred at a point in time. Revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
goods and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable. Sales of molybdenum
concentrate and chemical products are usually completed within
one year, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

BRI R R HE RS ER mAOES]
BEX—RHEHBBE (REBBR)ER -
EEFPESEMNEREBEIOEEMAE
- AASREARGNRHBRSENL A
AR BB - RIFERR UGS - SHEESHIS
BRCBER—BRN—FATK - BB
BRELNEISFAFATKEOALERE
[BITEKINMRIIE

2022
—===
HK$’000
FHET
Continuing operations BEREEK
(b) Other income: (b) HfbA :
Bank interest income RITHSUA 50 4
Government grant IRAT B3R 658 221
Sales of by-products HERIE M 2,112 3,681
2,820 3,943
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6. (PROVISION FOR)/REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT 6.

LOSSES UNDER ECL

AHMEFEEBREANREEBE
(B4R, #E

2022
—E—=
HK$°000
FHET
Continuing operations BREKEER
Reversal of impairment of trade and JEWBR S Eo b R UK 2
other receivables BERE D 559 2,364
Impairment of trade and other receivables TREEERRIE T KRR R
under ECL H b MR 2 RE (1,101) (31)
(542) 2,333

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. HttmRER

2022
===
HK$’000
FHET ‘
Continuing operations HEREER
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 56 B HEE 4 (6,188) (6,904)
Exchange gain b 5 Yz 9,555 -
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME - BEREBEZ
plant and equipment Wz, (E18) 75 (1,712
Provision of environmental and resources tax  E21{% 2 & JRTH & #5 - (108,792)
Reversal of impairment of property, Yz - RE KRR EREE
plant and equipment - 419
Sales of obsolete inventories LEEZERFE (106,793) -
(103,351) (111,989)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the directors of the Company, which are also the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”), for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and to assessing their performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@  Mining operation: — Exploration of mineral mines

— Exploitation of molybdenum mines
— Trading of mineral resources*

(b)  Chemical trading
operation:

Manufacturing and sale of
chemical products

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of a
non-wholly owned subsidiary, Shaanxi Jiulong Import and Export
Trading Company Limited, which engaged in trading of mineral
resources to commercial premises in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”). Accordingly, the Group’s trading of mineral resources
operation was treated as discontinued operation. The segment
information reported below does not include any amounts for the
discontinued operation.

The management monitors the operating results of its business
units separately for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating profits or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial
statements. Information regarding the above segment is reported
below.

AEBTIREREBEMAKRTRARZANE
BEBRNREDHE - ZFERIFMEAAR
AER(MRIBEERRE((XEEER
RED)REERIEEZ D BRFEER
3z BRI E B -

REEENME  ARBEZRBREER
HRBOABZEREN  RAEMET RS
REDE  JatmT

(@) BWEXRH: — BREDES
— FRERS
—BEBEEER"

b tEREE ERHELEM

ES v

* HE-_ -+ -A=+—HItEE "
AEBMEEFZEWB AR RS
AAERAR  ZARKRERFEARILM
BE([HEEESMEEREESRER °
At AEBEERELEREBERA
EARIIEE R - TXEMZHEERL
BAEFEDKRIEEEEB 2T -

EEERENEEEREEBEM 2K
EE AREERDERTERR - 78R
RIPTVZQEH N RE IR - WigsR
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. EER(HE)
8.1 Operating segment information 81 ReEHEENR
Segment revenue and results PENEREE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZZE-_—_H+ZA=+—HIL#F
E
Continuing operations FFEREET
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Total
Bk BEE{LEm et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FET FET
Revenue Wz
Segment revenue g g 221,332 1,074,334 1,295,666
Results E4
Segment results DHEEE (14,913) (90,844) (105,757)
Unallocated corporate income k% &it & @I A 80
Finance costs BE R A (140,030)
Other gains or losses Hit R &8 4,218
Impairment losses under FEHEEBEET
ECL, net WEEEEE (542)
Unallocated corporate FABEQAAMX
expenses (3,863)
Loss before income tax MATBRATEE (245,894)
Income tax FriSt (164)
Loss for the year from REBECSEEBLN
continuing operations REEEIE (246,058)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Continuing operations (Continued)

8.

7 EER(HE)

8.1 REFFER(E)
e E T {C )
BE-T-—F+-A=t+—HLF
E
RS E (F)

Revenue ek
Segment revenue Dl 179,534 1,170,833 1,350,367
Results ES
Segment results DL (138,846) 4,669 (134,177)
Unallocated corporate income RABERABRA 41
Finance costs BRE A A (301,194)
Other gains or losses HalasskEia (8,197)
Reversal of impairment losses TEAEERBET

under ECL, net EE B R F 2,333
Unallocated corporate P2 VNI

expenses (18,893)
Loss before income tax WRETISBIATE 1B (460,087)
Income tax FTis®t ©)
Loss for the year from REFELE D

continuing operations RFEEIE (460,096)
(@  Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable @ WERAZHSEARESEEE

segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of corporate income and
expenses, some amount of other gains or losses, provision for
or reversal of impairment loss under ECL, net, central
administrative expenses, directors’ salaries and finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

ZHERRZED EEENHX S
REEAMENIE - DEEERER
DREAFRA RS - 75 E AUk
HREE - BHEEBERTRE
ERBERBRFE  PRITRE
A EEHSRBERAZERT
&5 KA P RS A S P A B IR o
B RAEELERKE ZHMADE
BRMHERRZFE -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. 7EER(E)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 REWEHN (M)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERER

Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Unallocated Total

WEMK EELEm KRB #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FER FERT FET

As at 31 December 2022 N-BE=-—F

+=BA=+—8
Segment assets DEEE 1,501,088 477,774 38,138 2,017,000
Segment liabilities SEAEE 1,108,860 946,099 1,468,119 3,523,078
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products  Unallocated Total
BEMRK EBEECER ROBE #Et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAExT FAET FHxT
As at 31 December 2021 R-TE——%F
+-RA=+—8H
Segment assets DIEE 1,599,883 466,305 50,969 2,117,157
Segment liabilities HEAE 1,147,401 794,215 1,444,389 3,386,005
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. EER(H&)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 REEWEHN (M)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEERAEE(E)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MEESBERREESERERSEM
allocating resources between segments: =

i}

—  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other — FERAEHASBRERHRENSLE
than assets used jointly reportable segments which are (AR EPERRERZEE
classified as “Others” in segment assets. ENDBEERH IR [HM]

AIBRSN) ©

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other — FEABHSRENRESE
than liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly (AISREPAHRAELED
liable and classified as “Others” in segment liabilities. HaBEPEoEARTHEM] ME

ERAIERIN) °

Other segment information

Hpn BEHR

Continuing operation
Trading of
Mining chemical

exploitation products Unallocated Total
WEBR EHELEm R E e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TFET THET THET

As at 31 December 2022 RW=-ZT=-—fF

+=ZA=+—8
Depreciation and MEREH
amortisation 24,225 38,142 5,412 67,779
Capital expenditures =R 151,730 2,760 - 154,490
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

7 REFR ()

8.1 EEIEER(H)
Hitt BE R (8

As at 31 December 2021 R -Z - —4
+t=RA=+—H
Depreciation and PTE LB
amortisation 17,551 38,551 5,625 61,727
Capital expenditures BEARRR 76,561 1,146 - 77,707
8.2 Geographical information 82 WEER

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from external
customers; and (ii) the Group’s current and non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the goods were delivered. The
geographical location of the segment assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of mining rights, the
location of the operation to which they are allocated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.
8.2 Geographical information (Continued)
The Group’s operations are located in the following
geographical areas. The following table provides an analysis
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and assets
by geographical location:

2022
—E__—F
HK$°000
THERT

Hong Kong 55 -
The PRC (country of domicile) 1B (EF#ERR) 1,295,666

2REEFR ()

8.2 HEEH (M)
AEEZ EBMNATIE - FEM
5 AR BRI 815 2 S RE P Yok
RAED -

2022
—E__—F
HK$’000
FExT

- 78 102
1,350,367 2,016,922 2,117,055

1,295,666

1,350,367 2,017,000 2,117,157

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
customer contributing over 10% of total revenue (2021:
none).

BEREERFZEHR
HE—_T-—#+-_fA=+—HItE
B BMETFEREKZE10% U £
(ZZE=—F )
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

9. FINANCE COSTS

9. RERAK

2022
—E==
HK$’000
TExT
Continuing operations BREREER
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings ~ BRAFERBEEE 7 IRTERK 122,918 256,844
wholly repayable within five years REMEFRZFLE

Interest expenses on corporate bond EGHMNBHAX 16,140 43,315
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEAEMNEMXZ 972 1,035
140,030 301,194

10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging:

Continuing operations
Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Provision for environmental and

resources taxete
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)
— Wages and salaries
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions

10. BRETEHAIE R

2022
:g::

HK$’000
FHT

BEREER

ZEEE & 1,320

HRAERZ 2 FEKRA 1,108,585

Y - BREMERETE 61,591

FREEENE 6,188

RIRRE R A FEND

BIRAN(RIEESHE)

—I&KF® 55,790

— RONRFIET SR 6,879

BRATISTH AT B IR A TR B REE ¢

1,320
1,204,431
54,823
6,904

103,792

52,620
8,872

Note: The amount was for renewal of mining licence.

=
At
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+_H=1—HILFE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company entered into HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HLFE"
the sale and purchase agreement with a purchaser, for the disposal AABHEEAFIVEE WS UWEEIES
of a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Shaanxi Jiulong Import and BB AR ALEEEODBERT  H

11. CRIEEEETE

Export Trading Company Limited. The disposal was completed on
8 April 2021 and constitutes as discontinued operation under
HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” as the trading of mineral resources operation of the

EEER_T-_—FHUANRTEK  BX
KEZEEREEREBERE BV R
SEAFS [FHELEZERBEERD
RIEEEER | AT ZERIEEEER -

Group.
Analysis of the results of the discontinued operations: BRIHSEEE 2 EE DT -
2022 2021
ot~ —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAxT
Revenue Yess - -
Expenses X - (208)
Loss before taxation BRI EE - (208)
Taxation I8 - -
Loss for the period AR - (208)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries SRR )N g - 3,547
Profit/(Loss) for the period from B AR IS & ZE RS A S B
discontinued operations swmA (E518) - 3,339
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries ZEMBRARREEBHZEERERER

ﬁfﬁﬂm/\ﬁﬂ“‘iﬁﬁwuiM W -

at the disposal date are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MREJNERIEEEEBMS  HEEBRE
H2HBRaERZE :Ftlzfﬁﬁl%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
HEEHMERN 2L ERENRER
RHUBHRNE R IEREERT -

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operations, certain
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and the related notes have been
restated to present the results of the disposal group as
discontinued operations in the comparative period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 12. EEME
Remuneration of the directors of the Company disclosed pursuant R A8 B K &8 A Al E 5 25 383(1) 1§
to the Listing Rules and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong WEZANREEMESWT -

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2022
—Eg2-
HK$°000
T
Fees: we:
Executive directors WITES - -
Independent non-executive directors B IEITES 56 250
56 250
Other emoluments: Hiti & :
Executive directors: WITES
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYA G 792 2,602
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRIEFIET B HE3R 12 50
804 2,657
860 2,902
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 12. EEMS (H)
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emolument BEe_Z-_—_#k-_ZT-_—4%+=-A1
was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an =+—ALFE AEETERARRE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation EXMEMB S EAIRE B ARERSE
for loss of office. DOARSSZ AT 2 SRIB S A B E o

2022 2022 2022 2022
—E_CF —E_CF —E-CEF —E-CEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T THr
Executive directors HTES
Qian Yi Dong S5 - - 121 346 6 17 127 363
Zhang Jia Kun' R - - - - - - - -
Yang Ying Min BAR - - 671 1,932 6 18 677 1,950
Zhao Jian? ikl - - - 324 - 15 - 339
Shen Jian i - - - - - - - -
- - 792 2,602 12 50 804 2,652
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their LA TEETM D ABEERERERAT
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the RAEBEHIRERBEmMEL -
Company and the Group.
Independent non-executive BIYFHTES
directors
Cheng Chak Ho® BER? 37 100 - - - - 37 100
Wong Wai Chun? TEHES - 100 - - - - - 100
Guo Xiao Ying* =5 19 50 - - - - 19 50
56 250 - - - - 56 250
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown LB IR ITESESFM I ARSEEER
above were for their services as directors of the Company. NFBEEFEHBEMELY -
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=__

ZFEFZA=+—HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

! Zhang Jia Kun resigned as an executive director on 19 January 2022.

2 Zhao Jian resigned as an executive director on 21 October 2021.

3 Cheng Chak Ho resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

on 1 April 2022.

4 Guo Xiao Ying resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director on
1 April 2022.
5 Wong Wai Chun resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

on 14 December 2021.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, remunerations
of all directors of the Company fall within Nil to HK$2,000,000.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EE

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2021: three) directors, details for whose remuneration are set out
in Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three
(2021: two) highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

FALERRSFNEIBERE(ZE - —
FZR)EF FEZHMEFBEERRLEX
MizE12 - B T=F(ZT=—F : M%&) IF
EXBoFMEI2MeFBMT

2022 2021

s —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

TR FHBT

Salaries and other benefits e hEAEF] 913 690
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAREFET B 18 33
931 723

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, remunerations
of highest paid, non-director employees fall within Nil to
HK$1,000,000.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement
benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
represent for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

HE-_ZT-_—_FfrR-_T=-—F+=A
=+ —HALFE FESESFHEIZ
BN FZ 87T = 1,000,000/8 7T 2 EEIA ©

RAKBEREE
REBRIEEBEDIZE 485 FRGIERTE
AR AT ERBEIEE 2EE
Bt B (TRESE D -
BB A - HRBELERAETRZE
BMHFURAFE - RigaEEE - B
MEREERLZEERHBVAZS%METE
R S AARYAZ LR 7%30,00078
TC © [kt B 1EH 2 LB 578 o

ARBRFENBARZEETEARH
77 BT H B T 1T B 2R & B R KR R AT
BlZRE - MBARERERE 2EXH
T2 ET B HLRRREFRE ISR - T
BREREMHRFN BEECXNERERKS
FRREREA - BREBRAKBHETEE
BMERKEEXNE2IRAS -
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14. TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since the
Group incurred taxation losses for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the prevailing rates
of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

4. B

A AR B 4 VRS BB B - A
EBFIEBERAE - HE 2 ERH
HFIBBR R B A R RIEREOIE
RATBIEHE o

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAExT

Continuing operations BESEER
Current tax: RVERTRIA -
PRC corporate income tax Hh Bl PTG

164 9

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2022.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since the
Group incurred taxation losses for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

PRC corporate income tax charge represents the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax paid or payable during the year. Enterprise Income Tax
has been provided on the estimated assessable profits of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC at 25% (2021: 25%).
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14. TAXATION (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before income
tax using the statutory rates for the tax jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows:

15.

E_—F+_A=1—HIFE

14.

BiTE ()

BARARATREK B R TRITER A
FEREETEMEAE 2RISR AIEE

REASHEROT :

2022 2021
—E_— —E 4
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FHIT
Continuing operations BESEER
Loss before taxation BRIR AT ES I8 (245,894) (460,087)
Tax at the statutory tax rates BAEMEFTE 2 HIA (42,139) (93,844)
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERBRBRA Z RIS E
for tax purpose (3,023) 678)
Tax effect of expense not deductible AR A 2 RIS 2
for tax purpose 32,869 86,422
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses %EE REIBEB BT E 12,946 9,002
Tax effect of temporary difference R EBE ST R (164) 9
Utilised tax loss recognised E R EEANIEEE (653) (902)
Tax for the year REE 2 FHIE 164 9
DIVIDENDS 15. iRE
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of RNAFESITEZMNEEzE-_E-_—F+—

any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022

(2021: Nil).

A=1t—BIEFERMNEMRERE (=

Z—F )
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16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (@) BREXEE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the AARER ANEGFREREIBTIR
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BUATEUEE -
2022 2021
—=E=—= T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RNEVHEB ANEN (E18),/
of the Company gl
— from continuing operations — REFELEER (162,643) (359,902)
- from discontinued operations — REBRIFEEERK - 2,170
(162,643) (357,732)
Number of shares nE ¢!
Number of ordinary shares in issue AFEEBBEITERREE
during the year 23,370,386 23,370,386
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) SREFEEE
No diluted loss per share is presented as there were no HREBE_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
potential ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31 IEFEWEDBITETLBR - B
December 2022 (2021: Nil). E2NERHEETEFER( T _—F:

&) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z - E_-——#F+_HA=1+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BMERZRE

Cost KA
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—%-A-H 284,666 468,474 18,947 468,832 1,240,919
Addition NE - 3,694 1,587 72,426 77,707
Disposal HE - (2,655) (769) - (3,424)
Transfer A 8,304 2,400 - (10,704) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARA - - (241) - (241)
Exchange adjustment EREE 8,741 14,226 381 9,288 32,636
At 31 December 2021 and W_Z-—%+-A=1—-H

1 January 2022 h=E-—%-A-H 301,711 486,139 19,905 539,842 1,347,597
Addition NE 65,407 4,424 879 83,553 154,263
Disposal HE - (519) - - (519)
Transfer #z 253,320 137,670 1,660 (392,650) -
Exchange adjustment iR (33,347) (42,879) (1,132) (18.557) (95,915)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ5+-A=T-H 587,001 584,835 21,312 212,188 1405426
Accumulated depreciation ZIHTEREE

and impairment
At 1 January 2021 \-E-—F-F—H 144,500 263,134 16,721 194,350 618,705
Charge for the year FRMk 15,554 38,523 746 - 54,823
Written back on disposal HERR - (981) (730) - (1,711)
Reversal of impairment AERE - - - #19) (#19)
Disposal of subsidliaries HEMBAR - - (132) - (132)
Exchange adjustment ERHE 4617 8,551 323 5 13,496
At 31 December 2021 and R-E_—4+-A=+-H

1 January 2022 k=—E--F—-f-H 164,671 309,227 16,928 193,936 684,762
Charge for the year ¢I7WI]|3$ 23,466 37,213 912 - 61,591
Written back on disposal HERE - (493) - - (493)
Exchange adjustment B EE (13,809) (25,720) (847) - (40,376)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+-A=1-H 174,328 320,207 16,993 193,936 705,484
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F+-A=+-AH 412,763 264,608 4319 18,252 699,942
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ-%+ZA=+-A 137040 176912 2977 345906 662835
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, mining structure and buildings and plant
and machinery with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$248,191,000 (2021: approximately HK$313,952,000) were
pledged for bank loans.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$567,783,000
(2021: approximately HK$482,400,000) and approximately
HK$132,200,000 (2021: approximately HK$180,400,000) were
allocated to the Molybdenum Mining cash-generating unit
(“Molybdenum Mining CGU”) and trading of chemical products
cash-generating unit (“Chemical Products CGU”) respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU and Chemical Products CGU
based on value-in-use calculation. That calculation used cash flows
projections based on financial budgets as approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and (i) at a discount rate of
16% and 14% (2021: 15% and 13%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU
and Chemical Products CGU respectively and (i) at a growth rate of
2% and 1% (2021: 2% and 1%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU and
Chemical Products CGU respectively. As the recoverable amount
of Molybdenum Mining CGU and Chemical Products CGU were
higher than the carrying amounts, no impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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17. M5 - BEKR&RE (&)

R-ZFZ_F+-A=+—H KHEA
##)248,191,000 8 TLHO SRR A8 IR £E
55 kR (ZF = — 4 + #7313,952,000
B T) DR A RS IRITER -

RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H AE£EY
¥ WE M E 2 BREE4567,783,000
BT (=ZF = —F : 49482,400,0007% 7T)
& #7132,200,0008 L ( ZF = —F : 4
180,400,000 ) DAl H ic = EEH S E
G ([ERECELEMN ) REELE
uuﬁiﬁiﬁ{i(Ht%uufﬁﬁﬁiﬁfﬁj) °

RZEBEZZF+ZA=+—08  A%EAEIZ
AEREETEECHERSELESUR
(CERREEAEM KROS5 - BH
AEEATEREEEBHRENRERATH
ZUBBERERNESRETEN - % ()5
BREESBEURITERRESELAEN Y
BRIRRDBI16% B 14% (= —4F : 15%
NA13%) : R ()EBREeELS u&m%uu
REELENERERDFI2% M 1%TE
EEFfﬁﬁ}%ﬁ%%iﬁh&ftq—uufﬁiﬁi
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

18. MINING RIGHTS 18. g
2022
B
HK$’000
FET
Costs: AR
At 1 January wn—HA—AH 3,392,876 3,293,254
Exchange realignment Rk (270,447) 99,622
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 3,122,429 3,392,876
Accumulated amortisation and R RREEE
impairment loss:
At 1 January n—HA—H 2,466,446 2,394,025
Exchange realignment M 5, A (196,602) 72,421
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 2,269,844 2,466,446
Carrying amount: BRTEIME :
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 852,585 926,430
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18. MINING RIGHTS (Continued)

Molybdenum Mine

The Group has an exploitation right in respect of a molybdenum
mine located at Xi Ban Cha Gou, Huanglongpu Village, Shimen
Town, Luonan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi
Molybdenum Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The exploitation right was allocated to
the Group’s Molybdenum Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU based on value-
in-use calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections
based on financial budgets as approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and at a discount rate of 16% (2021: 15%). As the
recoverable amount of the Molybdenum Mining CGU was higher
than the carrying amount, no impairment loss was recognised as at
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, Molybdenum Mine with carrying amount
of approximately HK$852,585,000 (2021: HK$926,430,000) were
pledged for bank loans.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

19. GOODWILL 19. B&

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Cost: A :
At 1 January Rn—A—H 13,403 13,403
At 31 December W+=—R=+—8 13,403 13,403

As at 31 December 2022, the entire amounts of goodwill were
allocated to Molybdenum Mine CGU (2021: approximately HK$13.4
million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group conducted impairment review
on goodwill attributable to Molybdenum Mine CGU at the end of
the reporting period by reference to its estimated recoverable
amount which is calculated based on a value-in-use calculation. No
impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 5 years
period, and the discount rate of Molybdenum Mine CGU was 16%
(2021: 15%). The recoverable amount is above the carrying amount
of Molybdenum Mine CGU. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, any reasonably possible change in the assumptions
would not result in impairment.

RIE-—F+-A=+—"H BELHE
EHLEFHBREELSEM(ZT - —
£ 4913,400,00037T) ©

RZBEZZF+ZA=+—08  ££ER
WEARPERRCEAEML2E KGR
e eE(EEAEBENE) ETHE
BEES R_ZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H
WEBERAREBBR(ZE_—F &) -

RenERAERNGENEREEE]
ENRERFH M BEEREL - A
BREELBMZBRE/16%(ZF_—
F:15%) c IREeEERABEREESE
BUMEHE - ARAEERR BR
EREEAEESH IS EHRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # % —

TGt -F+—AULFE

20. INVENTORIES ZE
2022
—s=-=

HK$’000

FET
Raw material R 66,690 101,054
Work in progress TR 10,281 8,351
Finished goods UK @ 194,978 127,488
271,949 236,893

The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the year in
respect of mining operations and trading of chemical products were
totally approximately HK$1,108,585,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,204,431,000). No provision of obsolete inventories was
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022

(2021: nil).

21.

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

21.

FARKBEEBLRESLERERAIE
2IFE AR A H£#71,108,585,0007% T ( =

T — —4F : #91,204,431,00087T) - HE
—?::¢+ A=+—HILFE  #E

E’:‘?Efmﬁ@w%%T %ﬁ(—;:_fﬁ
=) -

U ERA R RiE

2022
=la==
HK$’000
FET
Trade and bill receivables MR TR R =k 11,159 18,5637
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBRE (1,691) (1,151)
9,468 17,386

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$11,159,000 and

HK$18,537,000, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, allowance for credit losses was
recognised approximately of HK$1,691,000 (2021: HK$1,151,000).
The range of expected loss rate is from 36.40% to 38.00% (2021:

37.05% to 81.73%).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

21. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BWERAKEE (8)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented AT ABIREE MR B H 2589 YR 5K
based on dates of delivery of goods. RIBRER AT o
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
FHT
0-30 days 0-30H 9,462 6,604
31-60 days 31-60 H 6 7,105
61-90 days 61-90H - 2,166
91-180 days 91-180 H - -
Over 180 days but within one year w180 HIER—F KN - 1,511
9,468 17,386
The aging of trade and bill receivables which are past due but not D HEERE Y EWE R R EEEER
impaired are as follows: T

2022
—E=-=

HK$’000

FEx
31-60 days 31-60 H - -
61-90 days 61-90 H - -
91-180 days 91-180 H - -
Over 180 days #1180 H - 1,511

- 1,511
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

21.

22,

23.

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, trade debtors that were
not impaired nor past due related to customers for whom there was
no recent history of default. Based on experience, management
believe that no impairment loss shall be recognised for trade
debtors that not yet past due as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
recoverable (2021: Nil).

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of trade
receivables are not materially different from their carrying value
because these amounts have short maturity period on their
inception.

For the Group’s mining operation, sales of molybdenum
concentrates are largely on cash basis with no credit terms being
granted to customers, except for sizable customers with good
credit history, the Group will allow a credit term not more than 30
days. For the Group’s chemical operation, the Group allow a credit
term of 30 days to 60 days to its customers.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2022, included in balance of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were (i) prepayments for purchase
of inventories and construction in progress of approximately
HK$68,959,000 (2021: approximately HK$140,858,000); and
(i) other receivables which indirect related to mining operation and
chemical trading operation of approximately HK$45,332,000
(2021: approximately HK$44,500,000).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21,

22,

23.

BWERRREE (&)
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE"
W R E a2 EIRE SRR R
F%iﬂﬁmﬁﬁzgﬁ RIBLE - &
REEGEWEHRSERNES - BERD
WRATKE  WERERAHBARY E
B ERESERRERREBE(ZE
Z—F )

ARABEERR  BUERZATFERA
FEHEZALEERER  WIHHNZSE
ERRELRHHREE -

MAEBCHBEEBME  HEEBHK
ZURSET  WEAKATRPEMREER -
HAEBESRTHERTEEREZ KA
BERETHBBEIAFESR - iALE 2 (L&
mEL  AEBEGTEREFI0EE0AEE
;a;qo
FEARIE - ZeRHEAMERRK
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H ' FBNZAE
e K H b B R A a%()ﬁ%/\fié&
TR 2 B FIEL) 68,959,000/8 7T (=
T~ —4F : #7140,858,000/8 7T ) ¢ K (i) £2
FREGLREREEEBEREE A
10 & IR 4 45,332,000/ 70 (ZF = —4F -
4944,500,000 7 7T)

RERREEEY

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT FAT

Cash and bank balances BE NIRITES 11,344 20,733
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from WITHEREEFERMHENEN F001%E

0.01% to 0.35% per annum (2021: 0.01% to 0.35%).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BAK

25.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each ~ &R E{E0.016 /8702 i@

Authorised: HEE
At 1 January 2021, WZZE_—F—H—H"

31 December 2021, —E-_—%+-_A=+—8-

1 January 2022 and —E-_F—-A—HK

31 December 2022 —E-_F+-A=+—H 31,250,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
At 1 January 2021, R=ZE=——F—HF—H"

31 December 2021, —E-—F+-HA=+—0H-

1 January 2022 and o F—A—HK

31 December 2022 —E-_F+=-A=+—H 23,370,386 373,926
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25 BEEMEAE

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—H—H 250,371
Exchange realignment bE H A 7,574
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R -_—F+-_A=+—BR-_ZE-_—_F—HF—H 257,945
Exchange realignment b A2 (20,561)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-_—_F+=-A=+—H 237,384
The Group did not have any significant unprovided deferred tax R —F+_-_A=1+—8 KEEK
liabilities at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). BEMNEARBBREHRBEGE( 2T -~
Fm) e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

26. TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES 26. ENRAKREE
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
FH&xT
0-30 days 0-30H 4,472 8,521
31-60 days 31-60 H 3,101 4,997
61-90 days 61-90 H 55,986 12,583
91-180 days 91-180 H 67,672 189,490
Over 180 days but within one year #1180 HIER—F R 155,213 57,950
286,444 273,541

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of trade and bill payables approximate to their fair values at the end
of reporting period.

27. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND 27.

RESOURCES TAX

ARBPEERR  BNERREENERE
BERANHERHRZ AFHERE -

BRRERBERE

2022
===

—_———

HK$’000
FTHET

Environmental and resources tax RRERERE

105,428

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had environmental and
resources tax liability at amounts of approximately HK$105,428,000
(RMB86,165,000) arising upon renewal of its mining license. The
environmental and resources tax liability was fully settled during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HfthPE{TE R FELTE
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
FTHET
Non-current liabilities ERBBE
— Other payables (note a) —E MR (s a) - 17,510
Current liabilities mBAE
— Other payables and accruals (note b) —HAb SRR EE A (Fisb) 1,022,009 891,361
1,022,009 908,871
(a) The non-current liabilities represented the amounts due to the (@ ErnFBaBEEMNIEENB AT Z VE
minority shareholders and directors of the Group’s subsidiaries which WERBREREERIE  ZRE B EE
are unsecured, interest free. R B o
(b) As at 31 December 2022, other payables and accruals include (o) KRB —F+—_B=+—0H HMEN
interests payable of approximately HK$653,857,000 (2021: L IEETE BB FEN T B 49653,857,000
HK$568,873,000) and amounts due to the minority shareholders and B (ZE = —4 : 568,873,000/ 7T) + i
directors of the Group’s subsidiaries of HK$893,000 (2021: nil) which ENAEEHBAR VSR EREEHIE
are unsecured, interest free and repayable within one year. The 893,000/ L (— T = —4 : ) AEiKH
directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other BAUEBBR—ERNESR - AT EER
payables and accruals approximate to their fair values at the end of BHEMEMNZRES SR ERESRER
reporting period. wERRZ ATERS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # % —

29.

30.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

TGt -F+—AULFE

29.

RITERRH AR

2022
—s==
HK$’000
FE T
Interest bearing bank loans, FTEBEBRITERE
secured and other borrowings Ht B

Current portion TEENEL 1,325,375 1,388,375
Non-current portion IEFRENEL S 16,890 11,012
1,342,265 1,399,387

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from
6.09% to 30% (2021: from 6.09% to 30%) per annum and were
secured by (i) guarantees from corporate companies; (i) pledged of
property, plant and equipment (note 17) and mining right (note 18);
(i) guarantees from subsidiaries of the Group and the subsidiary’s
minority shareholders; and (iv) guarantee from the ultimate control

party.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30.

w= ?__i-i— A=+—R  A&EE:
BARTT A&E‘r&1ﬁ*”2,ﬁ%¢$lJ+)|%a
609%;.:30% ZEZ—F :N¥6.09%E
30%) " AV EERR ZEZR ()RR 2D
% BB LA (ME17) RREE (T
18) : (i) AEEMB AR LM ERR 2 D#
RRBRRZER RV REERARZE
RIEIEI -

BHEaE

2022

HK$’000
FET

Contract liabilities aBHEE

222,963 44,049

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to

HK$25,478,000.

As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities represent advances
received from customers of approximately HK$222,963,000 (2021:
approximately HK$44,049,000). During the year ended 31
December 2022, revenue of HK$44,049,000 (2021:
HK$25,478,000) was recognised, which related to carried-forward
contract liabilities, upon delivery of products.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —

31. CORPORATE BONDS

E_—F+_A=1—HIFE

o St

2022 2021

—E-= T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Principal Ke 250,000 250,000
Interest payable FERTFILE 154,188 138,048
404,188 388,048

Upon the maturity date of a convertible bond on 28 December
2018, the Group entered into standstill deed in relation to turn the
convertible bond into a corporate bond with a principal amount of
HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of its principal amount
to Sfund International Investment Fund Management Limited, which
is to the best of knowledge, information and belief of the directors
of the Company having made all reasonable enquires, an
independent third party of the Company (the “Corporate Bond”).
The Corporate Bond carrying interest of 10% per annum and
mature on 28 September 2019.

The Group did not settle the Corporate Bond upon its maturity and
is subjected to the following interest penalty in addition to the
principal interest rate of 10%:

(i) Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the principal
interests of HK$20,000,000 payable commencing on 1 April
2019;

(i) Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the outstanding
principal amount of the Corporate Bond payable
commencing on its maturity (i.e. 28 September 2019); and

(i)  Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the outstanding
principal interests amounts payable commencing on the
maturity of Corporate Bond (i.e. 28 September 2019).

R-E-NE+-A-+/\BrA#RES
DR AEBEEEMNESEBRBRERE
EoBERARARBARRESIEL 1
BIEBWEEN  BRLEEAKRAT

MBIV EBERRE - RAR
RUAHERE RS EE100% 0 E & Z A
R E 588 % AN $ % A 250,000,00078 7T
MEEESHF((EESH] PEBEHFRF
MZEAO%F BN —E—AFELA=-FTN
AEEf -

AEERIMATEENEESES BB
AERMEA0%ETBIN - AR TFIEIEA
BINEIR

) BMRAZZE—NFNA—BMRENZ
+ & F| 820,000,000 T 1% 4 F| &
15%+tEEE

@M SMREIFAAI-_FT—-HLFNA
TR FRENZEEEBSZA
BEACFHRRFNEA%AESHE
K

iy FMROCEBEHFINEBE(EI_Z—hLF

nAZ= +AE)%%KHZ$E@£
BRI S SERENE15%FHEEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 32. FRESEREEESES

LIABILITIES
(@) Right-of-use assets (@) EAEEE
Properties Lands Total
L/ES 4 i @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THTT THTT
Cost: 5%
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—HF—H 98,833 23,5615 122,348
Exchange realignment i o A% 2,746 711 3,457
At 31 December 2021 and R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—H
at 1 January 2022 rE—E-—4—HF—H 101,579 24,226 125,805
Addition NE - 227 227
Termination of lease R EFALY (8,067) - (8,067)
Exchange realignment e 5, G #E (7,454) (1,937) (9,391)
At 31 December 2022 W E-_—_F+-"A=+—H 86,058 22,516 108,574
Accumulated depreciation Zstif e
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—%F—H—H 57,646 3,039 60,685
Charge for the year FRER 6,322 582 6,904
Exchange realignment B 5, 38 1,673 100 1,773
At 31 December 2021 and R-E-_—HF+-_A=+—H
at 1 January 2022 —E-—F—HF—H 65,641 3,721 69,362
Charge for the year F AR 5,735 453 6,188
Termination of lease R IEFALY (5,743) - (5,743)
Exchange realignment ERzEE (4,940) (311) (5,251)
At 31 December 2022 WR_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H 60,693 3,863 64,556
Accumulated impairment loss ZEHE{EEIE
At 1 January 2021, R-ZZE=_—4F—H—H"
31 December 2021 and —E-—F+-A=+—H
1 January 2022 —E-_F—HF—H 2,324 - 2,324
Termination of lease X EFRAY (2,324) - (2,324)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+—-_A=+—H - - -
Net carrying amount: MRMEEE :
At 31 December 2022 N-—E-_—_#+—-A=+—H 25,365 18,653 44,018
At 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—F+-_A=+—H 33,614 20,505 54,119
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 32. EAREERHEESRE (E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEESE
At
31 December
2022
RN-—E—-—
+t=A=+-H
Present
value of
minimum
lease
payments
REHEE
NRNBRE
HK$°000
FTHET
Within one year —FR 236 227
After one year but within —FEREREER
five years 1,713 1,651
Over five years BBAF 5,876 6,851
7,825 8,729
Less: Amount due for settlement within B IR RBAEETRI1I2EAR
12 months shown under current liabilities palp:ES S f=akent ] (236) (227)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 5| JERBI B & TR 12 18 B & 55

shown under non-current liabilities HERMEE 7,589 8,502
The Group leases offices and lands in several places. The AEERETHHEHEERAEZTR L
leases typically run for a period of 3 to 45 years. Lease o MEA—MENFIE4A5F - HEH
payments are renegotiated every one to two years to reflect RE—EMFHEITENER - LR
market rentals. For certain lease, the Group is restricted from mEHRE -pETHEMS * &R
entering into any sub-lease arrangements. R BIET S D % HE -

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities of HEEBBEAMNEBEERER
12.63%. 12.63% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 32 FHEEERHEEEE(H)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZEINSHE
2022
—E__F
HK$’000
FET
Leases under HKFRS 16 ERAMEHREERNF16FET
KHEE
For continuing operations: MEECEEEMS
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 972 1,035
For the year ended 31 December 2022, total cash outflow in BE-_EZ-_—_+-_A=+—HILFE "
respect of lease recognised in statement of cash flow was ERR e neaErxER2EERSRHE
approximately HK$1,186,000 (2021: HK$1,339,000). BB 4 A£1,186,00008 T( — T — — F:

1,339,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following balances and transactions
with related parties:

(a) Related party transactions

At the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into the
following balances with related parties:

Related parties BEEAT

33. BEHEEALRS
BN EEANBREEMBIMBES
Oh AEBEABEATTANTESR

() BRAEALXS
RBERR - AEEEBAEALE
BT5kEER

2022
—=— —

—_—s

HK$’000
THERT

869 17,510

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled
in cash. No guarantee has been given or received.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Company’s directors and certain of the
highest paid employees, as disclosed in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements is follows:

REERALEERRBAREE
B o WA T REFEMER -

(b) FEEEABZHM

BANAR A B IS IR MI T 12 R AT HE
B OEEERABCZHFH(RENT
ARBEERETHRRTMEES 2K
BT :

2022
—s==
HK$’000
T
Short-term employee benefits MHEBEF 1,761 3,542
Mandatory Provident Fund contribution EHIMAES K 30 83
1,791 3,625
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of
a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Shaanxi Jiulong Import and Export
Trading Company Limited, which is engaged in trading of mineral
resources operation in the PRC. The net assets of Shaanxi Jiulong

34. HEMEBAT

BE_E-_—#+-_A=+—RHIEE"
AEBLEIF2ENBARRANEEDR
OBRAR ZARNRERTRESEE
BREK - RHEERE BRAEAEELD

Import and Export Trading Company Limited at the date of disposal BRARBZFEEMT :
were as follow:
HK$’000
BT
Net liabilities disposal of: BEHERETRE
Property, plant and equipment 7 E N 109
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEH 41
Trade and other receivables JFEE MK R 35k % EL A JEE AR 3,724
Trade and other payables JEASBR 3 I EoAth FE A5 3R (5,193)
Group's share of net liabilities disposed of REESHEHEZBEFHE (1,319)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEWB ARz W
Group's share of net assets disposed of AEBOEEHEZEFEE 1,319
Consideration receivables FEWRIE -
Exchange reserve b 5 1 (4,981)
Non-controlled interests B 7,209
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W 3,547
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELEZRESRLFE
Cash consideration received BEUIRERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHEZHR® RIRTTHES 1)
1)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3. FEHFREXRS
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group RBEEZE-_ZE_—_F#K-_T-_—4%+-A1
did not have any material non-cash transactions. =t+—HLEFEA AEETEEAMEX

FRERF e

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. €@TH
Categories of financial instruments ST EER
2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Financial assets B EE
Trade and bill receivables FEW BRI R ZE R 9,468 17,386
Other receivables H b R 114,291 185,358
Cash and cash equivalents BekAeEEY 11,344 20,733
At amortised cost TR S B AN 135,103 223,477
Financial liabilities MEaE
Trade and bill payables AR ONES 286,444 273,541
Other payables and accruals HMENSREESER 1,022,009 908,871
Corporate bonds TEEH 404,188 388,048
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER M EMER 1,342,265 1,399,387
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,825 8,729
At amortised cost YRS P AN 3,062,731 2,978,576
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s treasury department, including the board of directors
meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
and monitor the Group’s exposure to variety of risk associate with
financial instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and
investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The
risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market risk

@

Foreign exchange risk

The business transactions of the Group conducted
during the year were mainly denominated and settled
in either RMB or HK$. The Group currently does not
have hedging policy in respect of the foreign currency
risk. However, management monitors the related
foreign currency risk exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure
should the needs arise.

Based on the market condition at end of reporting
period, the Group determined that it is reasonably
possible for RMB to strengthen/weaken by 10%
against HK$ in the coming twelve months (2021: 10%).
Hence, 10% are the sensitivity rates used in the current
year when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and based on the
assumption that other variables are held constant. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit or
equity where RMB strengthens 10% against HKS$. For
a 10% weakening of RMB against HK$, there would
be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and
the balances below would be negative.
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A MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

37. AREEEREREK (&)

G Rk ()
(i) IMNERRGE)

(a)

2022 2021

—E-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Profit or loss' i Al Sk TR 21,864 32,937

Equity? HEzs2 176,329 174,580
Notes: P -

(1) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding
on receivable and payable denominated in RMB at the

end of the reporting period.

2 This is mainly attributable to the reserves which are
denominated in RMB included in equity at the end of
the reporting period.

(t©)] In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

TEREBRMEHREAA
RUFHE 2 FEUGR K e+ 5%
EEZ R

U]

2 EZERERBEHARUAAR
MBI AT AR a2 fi o

@ EHERR SERESF
REANEINERR - REZE
A $R & B R P E 3 2 LR
RBP4 R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rate
except for bank borrowings. The sensitivity analysis
below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points increase or decrease in interest rate is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$662,000 (2021: approximately
HK$630,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings. Changes in interest rates have no impact
on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Other price risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not exposed
to equity price risks as the Group did not have any
equity investments at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+_H=1—HILFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (b) EER

EfaEEEFERBER (&)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables

Credit risk on trade receivable related to mining operation is
minimal because most of the transactions were made on
cash basis with no credit term given to its customers, except
for sizable customers and with good credit history with the
Group. The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables related to chemical operation at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on debtors by using a provision
matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
by reference to past default experience and current past due
exposure of the debtors.

In respect of trade receivables from chemical operation,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers operate.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of trade customers from chemical operation. Trade
receivables are due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group received certain sales deposits
from customers of chemical operation prior to delivery.

R-B-_—F+-A=1+—8B &&
BREYF T EEBRITEEMERAS
BEAMBBEZZNEERR - K
B&A MR RE ARSI R
BEEZBRIAREE -

& W AR
BRRBERZ BREER 2 EERR
B REBRIO X HIG AR
7 BYSBETEFEESR  EEA
SEARHEERBZIABETFR
57\\ c ARBEERABEABY B REER
FORWMT AT ERBCREMS

B USRS 2 BFR A (E S B R R &
BEE - AEERBARE2REKRE
FBEROKRLERBHRRMGS
HERREERBFED AN ERER
P E RUSR R TREMEEER -

MMEEREBHNREIRRME - A
EXREBE T REENT YRR
REFMEENE - WS EEPRE
FlBENRIBRIER 48 & B BT
XItEEN  XERERERFRER
ﬁﬁ@*&ﬁﬁﬁi%/ﬁf&iﬂﬁﬁ%’ﬂ%iﬁ
o AEERBEHCEREBNES
%}EE’JEM‘%HNRLTT EERE - IR
RN EEAHRET30E60HRE
HH o —RME - REBRZNFIREL
BmEBESUBME THERS -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

37. AREEEFERBR (H)

(b) FEERB ()

176 North Mining Shares Company Limited

Trade receivables (Continued)

Based on individual assessment for major customers and
portfolio assessment for other customers by the management
of the Group, the management has closely monitored the
credit qualities and the collectability of the trade receivables
and considered that the expected credit risks of them are
close to zero.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, for debtors
that are assessed collectively, the Group uses debtors’ past
due status to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large number of
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix:

FE s B (4]
REASBEEEEHIZEFETH
ERIFH, - AREH R FETHAE
AL EEED TSR EURR
WEBEZERLAWEREE  YRAE
HEHEERRLTE -

ERAZBEREERRERN D
AEREH AR EYIRARME - N&%
EE A EUR R B SRR
FRBEKRF ARZEEFEEA
HARRBBOAERF @ IFFR
BAKGT N FTA B BIRM L
ms&BFRKE -

TRIBHA B AN [ e 0 FE MR AR K
EERBNER - BREERIERIR
IR AR R

Average loss rate Gross carrying amounts Loss allowance
FHEEE BEREE EERE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C TEC—F [t il —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T TR T
Current ANER - - 9,468 17,026 - -
Over 180 days past due & EifRiH180 H 100% 76.2% 1,691 1,511 1,691 1,151
11,159 18,537 1,691 1,151
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The expected loss rate are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL for
trade receivables under the simplified approach:

37. EMEERRERBCE (&)

(b)

FERR (&)

FE s B (4R

FEHEE XTI IRE R YRR AR F
BB BRENRMERESE -
WIREHRBZKARE HAAFE
MRTRE BRI M AR - ERE TR
DB - AERE B E AR
REEEER ARIER -

TRETREECIEH EREYER
REMRREEBRNED

As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—H—H 1,098
Impairment loss recognised, net BRERREBEFE 31
Exchange adjustments [E H % 22
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HBK

—E-—-#—H—H 1,151
Impairment loss recognised, net EERBAEBEFE 640
Exchange adjustments PE 5 332 (100)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-=-f+=-B=+-—H 1,691
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Concentration of credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables which were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers in both years.

Other receivables

The Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
Based on the historical default rate, repayment history and
forecast of future condition on economy and debtors, the
directors considered the ECL for other receivables is
insignificant for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS HR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances

that has been recognised for other receivables:

37. EMEERRERBCE (&)

FERR (&)
Lt P& WK (4R)

TRBURT HERR A H At e A RS 1R 1
Bk

(b)

At 1 January 2021 W_E_-_—F—AF—H 3,725
Impairment loss reversed, net BB/ R ERERFE (2,364)
Exchange adjustments bE A% 26
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RIBE-_—%+-_A=+—HK

—E-—#—H—H 1,387
Impairment loss reversed, net ERERREBETFE (98)
Exchange adjustments b i A (92)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ_F+-A=+—H 1,197

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and bank balances is mitigated as
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with high
credit rating which is issued by some international external
rating agencies.

RERRESEEY

BN HF 77 RS T EERIMRRE R
BETSEEFRZRITHSABH
B AR MRITESRZEERR
15 PARUE
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e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

EfaEEERERBER (&)

(c) RBEZRR

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term. The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$2,854,163,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,630,666,000)
at 31 December 2022. In the opinion of directors, the
Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of end of reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

REBZBRATHEEERDES
Bk MRERTAESHEE - BN
RENESERBZEBHEST R - R
ZE-ZF+ZA=+—10 " r5H
2B BEFEL 52,854,163,000
B (ZZE=—F : 492,630,666,000
BIL) c EERA - ALREEEZR
HECRBRAER °

Ti‘%ﬁﬁlﬂi‘ilétmiﬁﬁ%‘%%
WEMR 2 Hera OB - TJ?FE

?FET‘”«H%HEEEEE%ME( BREEATH

M REF SRR REMRZ

MEFE 2B RAKE

payment computed using contractual rate or, if floating based =T}
AR ENFz&FAHmEL

on current rates at end of reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group may be required to pay:

2022
Carrying
Weighted  On demand Total  amount at
average  orless than 3 months Over undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month to 1 year 1years  cashflows 2022
R
—E-C
25
EZX kS =K AHR =t-H
R-fAAR =R -f BE-F REREEE D
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR Thx TR ThR ThR TR
Trade and bil payables EREIREZE NATER 4472 3,101 123,658 155,213 286,444 286,444
Other payables and accruals EpEATRETEE  NATER 1,022,009 - - - 1022009 1,022,009
Bank loans and other borrowings ~ HTE S REMER 19 1,200,957 - 115418 16800 1342265 1,342,265
Corporate bond 15 10 404,188 - - - 404,188 404,188
Lease liabilties HEak 12 20 61 1 9,520 9,772 7825
2,640,646 3,162 239,241 181,623 3,064,678 3,062,731
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

37. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. EREEBERBEK (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) "BELRMR(E)
2021 —E-—fF

Trade and bil payables EREAREE NATER 8,521 4997 260,023 - 213541 273541
Other payables and accruals AtERARENER  NATER 891,361 - - 17,510 908,871 908871
Bankloans and other borrowings ~ BTETREMES 19 1388375 - - 15504 1403969 1399387
Corporate bond 5B 10 388,048 - - - 388,048 388,048
Lease iabites BEAE 12 19 5 165 10,665 10920 8729
2676324 5086 260,188 18769 298539 2078576
(d) Fair value of financial instruments (d £®MIAZAF¥E
The directors of the Company consider the fair value of the ARREERE  TNEEWKEEK
Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially BEZAFEEENGS KRR
different from their carrying amounts as stated in the KAZRS 2 RABETESEAER

consolidated statement of financial position.

38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 38. EXAER

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the BABREARAERIFTE ARG 2 EZ -

Company. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital AEEEARERBZ2FTEZERA

management are:

(@) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going (@ BRAKEIFELSE BEARRK
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for REER - AHAMERSTE ABIER
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; i

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and ) ZRFAEBERTER: R

(€)  To provide capital for the purpose of the strengthening the ©) RBEHERUMEARER 2 RBREILLE
Group’s risk management capability. J1e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —=

38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

=__

ZFEFZA=+—HIEFE

38.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures, and projected strategic investment opportunities. The
Group has not adopted any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s total capital
comprises all components of equity and net debt includes bank
loans and other borrowings, trade and bill payables, other payables
and accruals and corporate bond, less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was as
follows:

EXEE ()
REEBEEHRE RERL LM -
BRENEEREREHREREKT - I
ARAEEZ RRAEAT R RE K -
BE R BN - B EERLRE -
T AARBEAR A RBERERE - &
SR AR (T IE LR B K -

AREBNAERNB B X (ATREFRERIA
BERNERFR) ERERNRR - AEH
ZHRERBEMAREZAKE D MA
BEFBRUESRITERREMENK - BN
BRRERE - RENRRESERNAR
EES  MRRELRSFEY -

AEBR-_ZE-__FR-_FT-_—F+=A1
=t+—HZEXBBEHERNT :

2022 2021
=2== =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fix FAIT
Debts BE 3,285,694 3,128,053
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERREEED (11,344) (20,739)
Net debts BEFHE 3,274,350 3,107,320
Equity = (1,506,078) (1,268,848)
Gearing ratio BEAMALE N/ATER N/A 738 F
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

39.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities
can be classified as follows:

39. MEEBRELREYHR

AEERERETDNEERZBHORMOT

At 1 January 2021 WZE-_—%—HF—H 1,441,716 384,280 8,772 1,834,768
Cash-flows: Beme:
— proceeds — FT{S5UE 5,180 - - 5,180
— repayment — &% (77,213) - (1,339) (78,552)
— interest paid —BRHE - (81,668) - (81,668)
Non-cash: FEBE
— interest expenses — FBRHX - 256,844 1,035 257,879
— exchange difference —ERER 29,704 9,417 261 39,382
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-—-F+-A=+—H

1 January 2022 r=—ZE-_—F—fF—H 1,399,387 568,873 8,729 1,976,989
Cash-flows: RenE:
— proceeds — FI13R0A 41,755 - - 41,755
— repayment — B3 (25,053) - (1,186) (26,239)
— interest paid —BEfFE - (8,759) - (8,759)
Non-cash: BT
— interest expenses —FERY - 122,918 972 123,890
— exchange difference —ERES (73,824) (29,175) (690) (103,689)
At 31 December 2022 N-ZB-_—_&#+-R=+—H 1,342,265 653,857 7,825 2,003,947
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. XRAHMBERRRBER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

31 December

2022
—E==
+=—A=+—H
HK$’000
FExT
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NIEYNGIPE - 3 - -
Current Assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivablesTa {518 « & I b FEUR - 4
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRIREEED 38 35
38 39
Total Assets BEAE 38 39
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXKHE
Share capital A% A 373,926 373,926
Reserves & (1,745,716) (1,698,729)
Total Equity EREE (1,371,790) (1,324,803)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z —ZF ——

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Ft+_H=1—HIFE

40.

RRTMBRRRHEER (E)

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%F
T-A=1—0 [y l=!
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET AT
LIABILITIES =N

Current Liabilities REBEE
Corporate bonds TEES 404,187 388,048
Other payables and accruals Hib e & EETE 48,411 45,627
Amount due to subsidiaries FERB B A FIZIE 82,290 82,290
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EMERK 836,940 808,877
1,371,828 1,324,842
Total Liabilities EEHEE 1,371,828 1,324,842
Total Equity and Liabilities EEREEAE 38 39
Net Current Liabilities FEBAEFEE (1,371,790) (1,324,803
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEABRABAE (1,371,790) (1,324,803
Net Liabilities EEFE (1,371,790) (1,324,803

The financial statements of the Company were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and

signed on its behalf by:

Yang Ying Min
BRER
Director

EE

KRR BEREREETERN T _=FM
A+ N\ BH#EREETE  WhTHA

TRERE:

Qian Yi Dong
g—&
Director

EE

T BERMER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. PRI BEMR R R #EER (E)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

At 1 January 2021 W-ZF--%-f-H 373,926 3,761,932 115,615 995 (5,343,646) (1,091,178)
Loss for the year REEBRE - - - - (233,625) (233,625)
At 31 December 2021 and WZZ-_—%+-A=1-H

at 1 January 2022 L=Z--F-f-H 373,926 3,761,932 115,615 995 (5,577,271) (1,324,803
Loss for the year rEEEER - - - - (46,987) (46,987)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-=%+-R=1-AH 373,926 3,761,932 115,615 995 (5,624,258) (1,371,790)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

41. PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows:

41. TEHEL T
ARTEEHB AT HBEWT -

Sun Man Tai International (B.V.I.) Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary HK$274,051
EERNES EER 274,051 %L

Golden Finance Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000
SEAHERAA A LR 2,000,000% T
Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading Limited PRC Registered capital
RMB30,000,000
LEELESERAT i AR
ARH 30,000,000
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiulong PRC Registered capital
Kuangye Company Limited RMB90,000,000
(“Jilong Kuangye”)
RELRHANEEXRRAA ik AR
(Thaegx)) AR 90,000,000 7T
Wealth Pioneer Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD50,000

KERUEE L1 50,000%F T

Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining Company ~ PRC Registered capital
Limited (‘Da Qin Jia Mining’) (note) RMB100,000,000
RREARABRERAR(ARHRE)  +E AR
(FitzE) AR 100,000,007
ZHROIMEREERAA PRC Registered capital
(“Anhui Tongxin") RMB200,000,000
ZHAOITRRRERAR Gk g
([Z@RL)) AR 200,000,000

The above list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

Note: The Group exercise control over Da Qin Jia Mining as they are eligible
to appoint the sole director of Da Qin Jia Mining.

100% - Investment holding
RERR

- 100%  Investment holding
RERR

- 100%  Investment holding

RERR

- 65%  Exploration and exploitation of
molybdenum mines, sales of
molybdenum concentrates

PREFERERRHEREN

- 65%  Investment holding

RERR

- 39%  Exploration and exploitation of
potassium feldspar mine, and
sale of potassium feldspar

HRRFRARAER
HENRA

- 51%  Research and development,
sales of chemical products
% REREEER

FIRISEESEIRIES 372 2N S ES
BEXRENHBARFG -

i - ARAEEEEREEARRIENE—F
£ R EARRFTRTTEIEHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

42. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 42, ERFERER

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of MNZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—H HHEKX
the Group that has material non-controlling interests as at 31 EIE iR s A EE LB HEENE A A
December 2022: SHERINT

2022 2022
—E-CF —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$000
THET THET
Jiulong Kuangye PRC 35% 35% (8,316) (52,347) (73,321) (65,206)
NEelkE B
Da Qin Jia Mining PRC 61% 61% (57) (19,897 207,347 187,122
i H
Anhui Tongxin PRC 49% 49% (75,042) (26,781) (313,605) (260,032
TR B
(83,415) (00025  (179579)  (128,116)
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TXEYEEEAR TR RN AERS
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out MEBARZHMEVBER - LTRHEMNK
below. The summarised financial information below represents BERRBR T _=_F+A=+—H%
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2022. NEBET S AT 2 £ 78 ©
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

42. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 42,

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of

BERFERER (F])

NERE  AEHFBRRZFBOR

financial position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin —E___F+-_HA=+—HzZzHBE
Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 FREMBMRRER
December 2022
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total

hEEmESE R E5= PR ZHE &%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F#&T FET FET

Non-current assets EREFEE 1,424,714 - 150,806 1,575,520
Current assets REEE 76,869 333 326,967 404,169
Total assets BEE 1,501,583 333 477,773 1,979,689
Non-current liabilities B BIE (261,863) - - (261,863)
Current liabilities mEBE (956,526) (384,367) (1,080,867) (2,421,760)
Total liabilities FEy=Er (1,218,389) (384,367) (1,080,867) (2,683,623)
Equity Em 283,194 (384,034) (603,094) (703,934)

Summarised consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of

Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui
Tongxin for the year ended 31 December 2022

NERE AEFHBERZEEOLRK
BE-_Z-_—_f#+=-HA=+—H1Lt
FEREFAEEZEREMZEK
#wR

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total

SRR REHTE Eog - (BTN =X

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT TR T FTET FET

Revenue ION 221,332 - 1,074,334 1,295,666

Loss before income tax FR PTG Al ES 18 (23,596) (93) (153,148) (176,837)

Taxation 18 (164) - - (164)

Loss for the year REEERE (23,760) (93) (153,148) (177,001)
Loss attributable to SRR R R

Non-controlling interests &8 (8,316) (57) (75,042) (83,415)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

42. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 42, ERFERELR (B)
(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash NERE AZTHERZEBELR
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and BE-—ESE-_—®#+=-B=+—H81
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December EEHEZSESRER
2022
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
B KSR ZHRE D &%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FE T FTET
Net cash generated REERHRE
from operating activities REFEE 70,663 63 3,839 74,565
Net cash used in investing A ESFTARE FE
activities (86,187) - (2,970) (89,157)
Net cash (used in)/generated  BL&EEN (FTA),/ 1S
from financing activities ReHEE (17,400) - 12 (17,388)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash & RIREZEY

and cash equivalent O g sz (32,924) 63 881 (31,980)
Cash and bank balances FYIRS MRTTEER

at beginning of the year 16,147 220 4,265 20,632
Effect of foreign exchange INETER B FNTE

rate changes, net R 22,082 (18) (345) 22,619
Cash and bank balances FRZB® RIRITES

at end of the year 6,205 265 4,801 11,271
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TXHEHNEEEAEEREROARNERS
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out MBARZHEEER - L THEME
below. The summarised financial information below represents BRI RN —_E-_—F+-_/A=+—H&
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2021. NELE BT 2 & %8 ©
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

42. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of
financial position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin
Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin as at 31
December 2021

42,

f

BAFERER ()

NERE - ARFREZHEBOLR
—E_-H+_A=t-HZHRE
FREMBRRERR

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,413,874 - 200,955 1,614,829
Current assets MEVAE 191,830 221 123,084 315,135
Total assets AR 1,605,704 221 324,039 1,929,964
Non-current liabilities FERBAERB (363,373) (22,405) - (385,778)
Current liabilities MEAE (909,544) (395,015) (817,831)  (2,122,390)
Total liabilities wafs (1,272,917) (417,420) (817,831)  (2,508,168)
Equity Rz 332,787 (417,199 (493,792) (578,204)

Summarised consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of

Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui
Tongxin for the year ended 31 December 2021

NERE AEFHBERZEEOLRK
Bz-_Z2-_—f+=-H=+—H1L
FEREFAEEZEREMZEK

HR

Revenue A 179,534 - 1,170,833 1,350,367
Loss before income tax BRER1SHL AT E 1B (149,355) (32,618) (54,645) (236,618)
Taxation Bi1E - - ©) ©)
Loss for the year REEFBE (149,355) (32,618) (54,654) (236,627)
Loss attributable to eI R i e AL

Non-controlling interests E518 (52,347) (19,897) (26,781) (99,025)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

42. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash

flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December
2021

42,

BAFERER ()

NERE  AZFBREZHBLR
HE_Z_-F+-A=+—-HL
FEZHEGERERER

Net cash generated LEREN TS

from operating activities e FE 100,953 (56) 12,995 113,892
Net cash used in investing A ESFTARE FE

activities (76,596) - (1,140) (77,736)
Net cash generated from/ BEEREAE(FTA)

(used in) financing activities REFR (18,173) - (13,450) (31,623)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & RIREZEY

and cash equivalent #in, CRid) #5858 6,184 (56) (1,599) 4,533
Cash and bank balances FUR© RRITER

at beginning of the year 9,575 266 5,737 15,578
Effect of foreign exchange INISTE R B 2

rate changes, net HER 388 10 123 521
Cash and bank balances FRZBE RIRITES

at end of the year 16,147 220 4,265 20,632
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Winding up of the Company by the Court

(@)

On 16 May 2022, the Company was ordered to be wound
up by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Official Receiver
by virtue of her office becomes the Provisional Liquidator of
the Company.

Pursuant to an Order dated 18 July 2022 granted by the
Hong Kong Court of First Instance, Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and
Mr. Tsui Chi Chiu of Ernst & Young Transactions Limited of
27/F One Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong
Kong SAR were appointed as the Joint and Several
Liquidators of the Company (the “Joint and Several
Liquidators”).

On 27 September 2022, the Company has submitted a
resumption proposal (the “Resumption Proposal”) to the
Stock Exchange to seek resumption of trading of the Shares.
The Resumption Proposal, sets out, actions taken and
proposed to be taken by the Company to fulfill the
resumption conditions, including among other things, (i)
details of the reorganization of the capital of the Company by
way of share consolidation, capital reduction, share sub-
division and share premium reduction (the “Capital
Reorganisation”); (ii) injection of funds by way of subscription
of Shares by the investor, Huatune Corporation; (iii)
application of whitewash waiver to The Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong; (iv) the business plan for the
Group’s compliance with rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules; and
(v) implementation of the schemes of arrangement to be
entered into between the Company and its creditors under
Part 13 of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, subject to any modification, addition
or condition approved or imposed by the High Court of Hong
Kong.

43. EHRER
ER TSR RRETER

(@)

AATR—ZE-—FHA+B8E
BEELRBLSER  MEEESEE
EREZTAERRRINREBSEA -

RIEE B ARIRAER RS B
BZZE-_FEA+N\Bz@w% &
KIEMBRE AR A RNEREL
TRGTRBLERZTARDRIMNE
AERENBEEATHRRSES
A it AE S S EEE 2B 79
SRS —E27E -

RZBEZ—FhLA=++tH  ARAA
MR TR B R E ([1EaES
E]) ShERKES - BEER
ERM T AR B BEREM G TR
B REERRMITE) - BITREOARA
FEBARMDE O - RAEDR - B H
I R i1 s B B R R B AN E 4 R 4R ED
([EAREA])  (NIREEER(£H)
ERABIAREROO AR EAE
R EEESFRAEEHER
ZEEHERARE  (WAEEK
XBErEE ST E AR RIS 18.24 45
MARAHEEEEARB(ATOE
BB R TBAG ) 16 0I) 13 EBH 7] 3L
ML PEETEl - BB ER S AR
SR AN A RIS B - 38 hn sk IR 1R IR
il o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2 —F - —F+_-H=1—HIFFE

43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Winding up of the Company by the Court
(Continued)

(b)  On 21 February 20283, the Company, the Liquidators and the
investor have entered into the conditional Restructuring
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company will carry out the
restructuring transactions involving (i) the Capital
Reorganisation; (i) the Investor’s Subscription; and (iii) the
Scheme. Details of the Restructuring Agreement has been
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21 February
2023.

44. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 April 2023.
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Summary of Financial Information
MR ERBE

RESULTS ¥E

2022
—E-C

HK$’000
TERT

Continuing operations BEREER

Revenue Uz 1,295,666 1,350,367 650,915 839,588 953,382
Loss from operations R EIR (105,864) (158,893)  (3,178,476) (873,161) (173,064)
Finance costs BE AR (140,030) (301,194) (323,098) (284,571) (276,722)
Loss before tax BRELATE IR (245,894) (460,087)  (3,501,574)  (1,157,732) (449,786)
Taxation Fi1E (164) ) (179) 13,362 13,093
Loss for the year from RFERFELE

continuing operations ES (246,058) (460,096)  (3,501,753)  (1,144,370) (436,693)

Discontinued operations T & 1L @& %5k
Gain/(Loss) for the year from ZRFE B 48 | FK &
discontinued operations £ (BE) - 3,339 (861) (72,2083) (134,086)

Loss for the year rEEBR (246,058) (456,757)  (3,502,614)  (1,216,573) (570,779)
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Summary of Financial Information
HBERBE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

BEERAE

2022
—E_
HK$’000
FERT
Total Assets BEME 2,017,000 2,117,157 2,054,790 5,160,877 6,374,330
Total Liabilities BERE (3,523,078)  (3,386,005) (2,867,785  (2,497,072)  (2,479,025)
(1,506,078)  (1,268,848) (812,995) 2,663,805 3,895,305
Equity attributable to: FE(GRERS :
Owners of the Company KNRBEB A (1,326,499) (1,140,732 (800,347) 1,754,125 2,497,615
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR (179,579) (128,116) (12,648) 909,680 1,397,690
(1,506,078)  (1,268,848) (812,995) 2,663,805 3,895,305
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